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Corporate Profile

Vision
To be the bank of first choice, leading the region 
in building quality relationships with our clients by 
providing them with innovative banking solutions to suit 
their needs.

Mission
To achieve our vision by fulfilling the commitments we 
have made to each of our stakeholders:
•  First for Clients – Help our clients achieve what 

matters to them
•  First for Employees – Create an environment where 

all of our employees can excel
•  First for our Communities – Make a real difference in 

communities in which we operate
•  First for Shareholders – Generate strong total returns 

for our shareholders

Values
As a member of the CIBC Group of companies, we share 
an organizational culture based on core values of Trust, 
Teamwork, and Accountability.

Strategic Priorities
These five strategic priorities support our stated vision 
and mission:
•  Enhancing client value by deepening relationships
• Diversification of our income streams
• Balance sheet management to optimise returns
•  Improved productivity & control to improve the 

speed and quality of service to our clients
•  Leveraging our relationship with our parent, CIBC, to 

bring new opportunities to benefit our stakeholders

These priorities are the cornerstone for delivering consistent 
and sustainable performance over the long term.

First for Clients
Retail, Wealth and Small Business focused on improving 
and enhancing customer relationships through a series of 
customer service, product, and channel enhancements.  
This was reflected in the re-engineering of a number of 
processes and enhancing of the internet banking product 
to allow customers to apply for products and services 
online. In 2010, the Bank also launched our new Visa 
Debit Card.  

Corporate Investment Banking (CIB) realignment of 
its team approach for customer coverage significantly 
improved our service delivery to Corporate and 
Investment Banking customers.  In 2010, we continued 
to focus on the customer value proposition with a focus 
on deepening our relationships with our clients. We 
continue to develop innovative solutions to assist in 
adapting to the protracted economic slowdown. 

First for Employees
FirstCaribbean’s commitment to building employee 
competence and promoting talent and leadership 
development continued through a series of new learning 
opportunities offered to our employees using both web-
based and classroom style learning techniques. 

First for Shareholders
We continue to maintain strong capital ratios, with Tier I 
Capital ratio at 20.89% and Tier I & Tier II Capital ratio 
at 21.47% at the end of fiscal 2010. Also in 2010, total 
dividends paid to our shareholders was 31 cents per 
share with a return on equity of 11.6%.

FirstCaribbean International Bank (Bahamas) Limited is a relationship bank offering a full range of market-
leading financial services through our Corporate Investment Banking and Retail Banking segments. We 
provide banking services that matter to our clients through 788 employees, in 20 branches nationwide. 
Our parent company (FirstCaribbean International Bank Limited) is the largest regionally-listed financial 
services institution in the English and Dutch speaking Caribbean, with over US $9.7 billion in assets and 
market capitalization of US $2.1 billion.
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Financial Highlights 

B$(000), except per share amounts, as at or for the year ended October 31 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Common share information
Earnings per share - basic 51.5 65.4 69.8 91.4 83.8

Share price 9.74 9.87 11.60 14.65 14.00

Shares outstanding (thousands) - end of period  120,216  120,216  120,216  120,216  120,216 

Market capitalization  1,170,904  1,186,532  1,394,506  1,761,164  1,683,024 

Value measures
Price to earnings multiple 18.9 15.1 16.6 16.0 16.7

Dividend yield 3.2% 3.5% 3.9% 3.2% 4.3%

Dividend payout ratio 60% 54% 64% 51% 66%

Financial results
Total operating income  169,161  168,235  171,594  179,303  171,897 

Loans loss impairment expense  30,204  18,519  23,350  12,339  5,324 

Operating expenses  77,094  71,079  64,340  57,104  65,873 

Net income  61,863  78,637  83,904  109,860  100,700 

Financial measures
Efficiency ratio 46% 42% 38% 32% 38%

Return on equity 11.6% 16.7% 18.2% 25.2% 26.0%

Net interest margin 3.5% 3.6% 3.5% 3.2% 4.0%

Balance sheet information
Loans and advances to customers 2,418,836 2,541,756 2,539,072 2,415,975 2,425,951

Total assets 3,598,996 3,762,672 4,137,990 4,668,455 4,423,961

Deposits & other borrowed funds 2,767,359 2,985,964 3,445,010 3,939,577 3,785,247

Total equity 730,854 707,181 645,812 643,332 596,738

Balance sheet quality measures
Common equity to risk weighted assets 29% 26% 23% 21% 20%

Risk weighted assets  2,543,580  2,712,548  2,848,214  3,085,406  2,944,263 

Tier I capital ratio 21% 19% 17% 14% 13%

Tier I and II capital ratio 21% 19% 16% 15% 14%

Other information
Full time equivalent employees 788 775 798 784 784
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Earnings per share-basic – B$ cents Net interest margin Tier I capital ratio

Basic EPS is a measure of net income 
divided by the weighted average 
number of common shares.

Net interest margin is calculated by 
dividing net interest income by average 
total assets.

The Tier I Capital Ratio is calculated by 
dividing Tier I Capital by risk weighted 
assets.
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Conditions in The Bahamas and The Turks & Caicos Islands 
have been adversely affected by the sluggish economic 
recovery and the stubbornly high unemployment levels 
affecting the region’s significant trading partners. 
Generally speaking tourist arrivals, international trade 
and transactions, foreign direct investment and high end 
real estate activity have been negatively affected in 2009 
and 2010 and several of our island economies struggled 
to show any meaningful growth in 2010. Several 
governments attempted to fill the investment void by 
modest levels of stimulus spending but these efforts were 
limited because the debt to gross domestic product and 
debt service levels even prior to the current economic 
uncertainties were uncomfortably high.

Banking is a cyclical business and in these relatively 
small economies, banks’ results tend to reflect almost 
immediately the deteriorating conditions of the clientele. 
We have consequently found that balance sheet growth 
has been difficult and we have also had to increase 
the level of provisioning. We have however taken the 
position that we will support our clientele through 
the current difficulties as long as we believe that their 
responses to the reduction in business volumes are likely 
to result in long term positive outcomes. This clearly is 
the most enlightened approach as we are committed to 
the region and we fully expect that these customers will 
in time improve their results and prospects and be the 
source of meaningful growth in our own results.

It is difficult to forecast when conditions will improve 
materially but clearly both The Bahamas and The Turks 
& Caicos Islands have had to adapt very quickly to 
the new normal and it would seem that even gradual 
improvements in the macroeconomics of our most 
significant trading partners and providers of capital 
will positively affect our island economies. In the 
interim, while we are determined to increase returns 
for our shareholders, we recognize our wider social and 
economic responsibilities and we will fulfill these in a 
manner consistent with the optimization of returns.

Our people continue to contribute hugely to the progress 
of the Bank and they have worked hard to stay close to 
our customers who in these rather more challenging 
circumstances need us now more than ever. We have 
also continued to invest in their learning and professional 
development all with the purpose of creating a customer and 
people centered ethos that we have always characterized as 
first for customers and first for our people.

We have also made important improvements to our 
product offerings and have made significant enhancements 
to our operating technology platforms. It is our expectation 
that we will be able to convert these investments into 
sustainable sources of profitability in short order.

I am happy to report that our Board of Directors 
have met quarterly to provide strategic leadership and 
guidance and to also monitor the operating performance 
and the proper functioning of our systems of control and 
governance for the Bahamas Operating Company. 

During the year, Ms. Sharon Brown retired as 
Managing Director of the Bahamas Operating Company 
and I would like to thank her for her contribution to 
FirstCaribbean throughout the years.  She remains a Non-
Executive Director and Deputy Chairman of the Board. 
At the same time, I also take great pleasure in formally 
welcoming on board Mrs. Marie Rodland-Allen who 
joins us as our new Managing Director. A career banker 
with a B.Sc. from New York University’s Stern School 
of Business and a dual M.B.A. from Cornell University’s 
Johnson Graduate School of Management and Queen’s 
University, Marie brings a wealth of experience and 
knowledge to lead our business in The Bahamas and The 
Turks & Caicos Islands. 

I also would like to place on record our gratitude to 
all our regulators and host governments for their support 
of our enterprise.

I believe that 2010 has been on balance a difficult but 
successful year and I would like to thank each and every 
employee as they have taken the brunt of the hard work 
and challenges that are a feature of the current economic 
conditions. All of us enter the new period with a firm resolve 
to enhance our franchise and achieve better returns.                   

                   

Michael K. Mansoor  
Executive Chairman 

Chairman’s Letter

I am happy to report that our Bank remains in a solid financial position and that our balance sheet remains 
as strong as it has ever been despite the fact that net income for The Bahamas and The Turks & Caicos 
Islands in 2010 was $61.9 million, 21% down from its 2009 comparable of $78.6 million. The total dividend 
paid for 2010 is thirty-one cents ($0.31) per share. 

Executive Chairman 
Michael K. Mansoor  
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Managing Director’s Review
The Bank ended its eighth year of operations being awarded 
the “Best Bank in The Bahamas” in the Euromoney Awards 
for Excellence 2010. This prestigious award recognizes 
institutions and individuals who demonstrate leadership 
and innovation in the markets in which they operate. The 
award also underscores the strength of our business even 
amidst another challenging year.

Financial Performance
The Bank delivered net income for the year of $61.9 million 
or 51.5 cents per share which was $16.8 million (21%) lower 
than the prior year. The adverse economic environment 
experienced in 2009 continued to prevail during 2010. 
The low interest rate environment negatively impacted net 
interest income, while the general downturn affected clients 
and increased delinquencies and loan loss impairment 
expenses. Higher operating expenses were driven by 
increases in management fee charges which if excluded 
would reflect prudent cost management. Gains on the sale 
of investment securities and increases in foreign exchange 
earnings partially mitigated the declines experienced as a 
result of this challenging economic environment.

Retail, Wealth and Small Business
For Retail Banking, the year in review was filled with 
innovation, intense customer focus and re-engineering of 
processes, all focused and geared towards exceeding our 
customers’ expectations. Internet banking was enhanced 
to allow customers to apply for products and services 
online, improvements were made to our complaints 
management process, significant time reductions were 
made to the account opening and loan processes and 
a risk task force specifically geared to assisting clients 
experiencing financial difficulty during these tough 
economic times was also implemented. Additionally, we 
successfully launched our international Visa Debit card 
and upgraded all of our ABM machines to a new ABM 
platform to improve the customer experience.

Corporate Investment Banking
2010 proved to be a very difficult year with the slowdown 
in the economy suppressing the demand for new 
borrowings as clients continued to experience financial 
difficulties. Despite this backdrop, Corporate Investment 
Banking (CIB) produced a credible performance. The 
realignment of the Corporate Banking Team into Client 
Relationship Teams combined with an enhanced Senior 
Coverage proposition for our larger clients were factors 
which contributed to the successes of 2010 and which 
also reflect the strong drive towards increasing the 
strength of the customer proposition.

A very strong collaborative effort between our 
Corporate and Investment Banking teams resulted in the 
Bank successfully leading a syndication for the Government 
of Turks and Caicos, facilities to support the Turks and 
Caicos Airport Authority and $50 million of funding to 
support the Bahamas Electricity Corporation.

We see the future being significantly enhanced by 
the depth of customer proposition that we continue to 
build and the strong relationships that CIB has with key 
internal stakeholders such as Transaction Banking and 
Treasury which will ensure that we continue to assist our 
Corporate Clients with highly skilled product specialists 
adopting a solutions led culture.
 
Community Partnership
FirstCaribbean made the second of three $10,000 donations 
to its education partnership with the Bahamas National 
Trust. These funds help the Trust augment the work of its 
Discovery Club program. This year, the Bank completed 
its annual $20,000 commitment to the College of the 
Bahamas’ President’s Scholars Programme, and provided 
work placement to two of the President’s Scholars. The 
Bank sponsored Junior Achievement Companies in Nassau 
and Abaco, both of which won many top accolades at the 
close of the Junior Achievement year 2010. Our flagship 
Unsung Heroes program was again held in 2010 and 
unveiled Androsian, Eula Nixon; Grand Bahamian, Arnold 
Martin; and Nassauvian, Barbara Lockhart for being symbols 
of true humanitarianism, thoughtfulness, and compassion. 
Likewise, our Adopt-A-Cause program continues to yield 
high levels of staff participation.

As is customary, the Bank again provided funding 
to several Junkanoo Groups. Other beneficiaries of the 
community partnership program included: The Royal 
Bahamas Police Force Dependents’ Trust, the Carifta 

Managing Director’s Review

Our financial performance in 2010 was stable in this protracted and difficult economic climate. 
Management continued to focus on strengthening and deepening client relationships which is at the 
core of our strategy.

Managing Director  
Marie A. Rodland-Allen
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Swim Team, the Bahamas Primary Student of the Year 
program; the Bahamas Technical & Vocational Institute; 
and members of the Junior Baseball League. The Bank 
also sponsored the “Stride for Life Walk” hosted by the 
Cancer Society, and for the first time, committed to 
sponsoring the “Best Kept Yard” competition held by the 
Bahamas National Pride Association. The Bank topped off 
this year by answering a cry for help through donating 
$10,000 to the Ranfurly Home for Children.

People
The vibrant and committed employees of FirstCaribbean 
make our organization great and we are committed to 
providing an inspiring and satisfying work atmosphere. 
The 2010 Employee Voice Survey Results saw an increase 
of six (6) percent over last year’s results indicating a 
marked positive change in our employees’ pride, loyalty, 
endorsement, and emotional engagement with the 
organization. Over the past year, we have continued to 
foster stronger employee relationships through our “One 
Team One Bank” pool of programs. Additionally, we have 
introduced a collection of new learning opportunities 
for staff using both web-based and classroom style 
learning techniques and implemented some changes to 
our Helpful Partner Reward and Recognition program 
which allowed employees at all levels to be recognized 
as Helpful Partners as well as for performance excellence 
in the areas of Leadership, Sales, Process Improvement, 
Risk Mitigation, Relationship Management and Customer 
Service. Staff were nominated and selected as winners on 
a quarterly basis and from this group of quarterly winners, 
the Annual Players of the Series were selected. This year 

for the Bahamas Operating Company we were pleased to 
recognize the following persons as Annual Player of the 
Series winners: Nadia Knowles, Mall at Marathon Branch 
- Helpful Partner Award; Terrance Gibson, Corporate 
Banking TCI - Risk Mitigation Award; and Patrick Candio, 
Corporate Banking TCI - Customer Service Award.

Appreciation
As we close out the year, I would like us all to remember 
and recognize the contributions made by persons who 
left the Senior Management Team of the Bank during the 
year; Sharon Brown – Former Managing Director; Anna 
Degregory – Former Retail Banking Director; Darron Cash 
– Former CFO; and Renee Moore – Former Treasurer. At 
the same time, I ask that you all join me in welcoming the 
new members of our Senior Management Team: Richard 
Phillips - Director of Retail, Wealth and Small Business; 
Stacia Williamson - Controller and Chief Financial Officer; 
and Lakeisha Moss - Treasurer.

As we begin 2011 with a renewed commitment to 
being first for our customers and employees, I would 
especially like to thank our valued customers, staff and 
shareholders for their steadfast support and loyalty. 
Thanks to our Board of Directors as well for their guidance 
and support throughout the year.

We look forward to your continued support in 2011.

Marie A. Rodland-Allen 
Managing Director - 
Bahamas and Turks & Caicos
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Seated, l to r are:  
Catherine Gibson, Marie Rodland-
Allen and Teresa Williams.  

Stacia Williamson and Richard 
Phillips are missing from picture.

DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADvISORS
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Our Communities 

Education Partnerships

FirstCaribbean Assists the Discovery Club Program 
Through The Bahamas National Trust 
This is the second year of the Bank’s three-year 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the 
Bahamas National Trust (BNT). The MOU cements the 
Bank’s commitment to $30,000 over a three-year period 
to BNT’s Discovery Club – an after-school program 
that teaches young persons, from 6 to 11 years of age, 
about environmental stewardship. Many more schools 
participated in the program over the past two years as a 
result of FirstCaribbean’s contribution. 

FirstCaribbean President’s Scholars Learn  
Workplace Coping Skills

Two of the young ladies in the College of the Bahamas’ 
President’s Scholars Programme (PSP) who are interning 
at the Bank, recently received invaluable tips on how to 
“survive” in the workplace. Conducted by Edith Francis, 
the Bank’s Manager, Business Engagement and Design, 
shared lifelong skills of time management, work-life 
balance, stress management and, overall, how to be a 

model employee. Accounting major LaNardia Davis and 
graduate Delia Ferguson are having real-world work 
experiences - Ms. Davis in the Loans Department and 
Ms. Ferguson in the Human Resources Department. 
FirstCaribbean’s sponsorship of the four year program 
ended this year.  However, the Bank continues to look for 
ways to lend support to the College. The PSP awardees 
are granted full four-year scholarships, with stipends for 
books and funding for special activities, such as local 
and international leadership conferences and field trips 
abroad included in their program of study. 

FirstCaribbean-Sponsored JA Companies Win Big
FirstCaribbean Bahamas’ commitment to Junior 
Achievement (JA) Bahamas was strengthened in 2010.  For 
the first time, the Bank’s Marsh Harbour Branch sponsored 
a JA company on the island of Abaco. Under the JA 
theme for 2010, ”Destined to Win” C.A.S.H. underwent 
what seemed to be a long 25-week process but emerged 
victorious at the end. C.A.S.H. received the following 
accolades - JA Abaco’s Company of the Year; Winner of 
the overall competition; Best Trade Fair Booth; Winner of 
the Step Show; Highest Return of Investment; Best Overall 
Company Reports and National Product of the Year for the 
entire Bahamas. President of the company, Amy Mackey, 
also won the Most Distinguished Achiever Award.

The devastation in post-earthquake Haiti also struck a 
chord with members of the Bank’s Nassau JA company, 
Carpe Diem. Once it was realized that a fellow Achiever’s 
mother was in Haiti at the time of the quake and that 
this achiever had also lost close relatives, funds were 
immediately collected from the team. The Bank matched 
the collected funds and a welcomed donation was made 
on the Achiever’s behalf.

The Bank is grateful to have in its employ, excellent 
and dedicated advisors who volunteer their time to 
making both companies successful. Carpe Diem’s advisory 
team is led by Omar Wilkinson and Juanyette Curry led 
Abaco’s team.  They were supported by two stellar groups 
of advisors that helped lead each company to victory. 

Pictured l to r, are: FirstCaribbean’s Mrs. Edith Francis; Ms. LaNardia 
Davis; Ms. Delia Ferguson and Ms. Felicity Humblestone, formerly of 
the College of the Bahamas.
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Unsung Heroes Winners Celebrated - FirstCaribbean’s Managing 
Director, Marie Rodland-Allen (far right) poses with the Unsung Heroes. 
Left to right, are: Eula Nixon, Arnold Martin and Barbara Lockhart.

Cheque Sponsorship Presentation to Stride For Life Walk -  
Pictured l to r, are: FirstCaribbean’s Marketing Manager, Andrea M. 
Tanguay; Chairperson of the Stride for Life Walk, Gennie Dean; First 
Caribbean Relationship Manager, Diana Johnson; and committee 
member, Christopher Rahming.

Unsung Heroes
2010 saw an increasing number of nominees from the 
Family Islands, making the job of the distinguished panel of 
judges even tougher this year. The Bank’s flagship Unsung 
Heroes program is increasingly gaining momentum with a 
greater number of nominees vying for the covetous title of 
FirstCaribbean Regional Unsung Hero. 

One of the 2010 winners from The Bahamas was 
Androsian Eula Nixon who, for 35 years, has made 
assisting those in need her way of life. She has adopted 
thirteen children, in addition to her six birth children, and 
sacrificed all she had to ensure that they had a better life.  
The owner of a convenience store, Mrs. Nixon is known 
to literally give away her inventory to needy persons, 
including writing off bad debts and feeding the hungry 
in her close-knit Pleasant Bay, South Andros settlement. 

The songs of praise for the youthful Arnold Martin still 
resonate with the judges because for the first time ever, 
he was nominated by over 50 persons, many of whom he 
assisted with finding scholarships to study abroad.  Mr. 
Martin lives on the island of Grand Bahama and leaves no 
stone unturned in ensuring that the energy of the youth 
is positively channelled toward making a difference in 
their community.  He started a pantry on his own accord 
that feeds the children from two schools and those in 
need, from the funds that he makes as a teacher.

The only Nassauvian of the three winners, Barbara 
Lockhart is a gem who continues to change the lives of 
drug addicts, the downtrodden and anyone she meets 

and there were lots of persons lined up to give her the 
praises that they believe she deserves. The only woman 
who founded Teen Challenge Bahamas, Mrs. Lockhart is an 
avid churchgoer and is committed to helping addicts kick 
the habit, including opening her home to them even when 
they have stolen from her…giving them a fighting chance. 

Community Relations
Several Junkanoo Groups received funding that assisted 
their participation in the country’s biggest annual 
cultural extravaganza, Junkanoo. The Royal Bahamas 
Police Force Dependents’ Trust, two junior baseball 
teams, the Carifta Swim Team, the Bahamas Primary 
Student of the Year program and the Bahamas Technical 
& Vocational Institute continue to be recipients of 
the Bank’s financial support. Taking our community 
commitment a step further, the Bank assisted a team 
from the Freedom Farm Baseball League of Nassau to 
travel to Florida to participate in the Babe Ruth/Cal 
Ripkin 2010 Tournament. After winning this tournament, 
the team proudly went on to win a “world series title” 
that of the 12-Year Old Major 60 World Series, in North 
Carolina. The Bank also supported the police in various 
constituencies to host successful summer programs 
aimed at keeping the youth occupied during the long 
summer months. The Bank also sponsored the Stride for 
Life Walk hosted by the Cancer Society of the Bahamas 
and supported the Bahamas National Pride Association’s 
“Best Kept Yard” competition.
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Management’s Discussion  
and Analysis

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) should 
be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated 
financial statements included in this Annual Report.  The 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and are expressed in Bahamian dollars. Certain 
comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform 
with the presentation adopted in the current year. 

OVERVIEW

The Bank reported net income of $61.9 million compared 
to $78.6 million in 2009, a  21% decline. The current 
depressed economic conditions continued to have  a 
dampening impact on the Bank’s results, contributing to  
lower net interest income, as well as lower volumes. Other 
operating income exceeded the prior year by $14.8 million 
or 58% primarily due to net hedging gains versus losses 
and a decline in mark-to-market losses. The increase in 
operating expenses was primarily due to management fees 
and other general expenses. Despite the strong focus on its 
credit portfolio, the Bank experienced rising delinquencies, 
and  loan loss expenses increased by $11.7 million year over 
year, as clients also struggled to cope with the effects of the 
economic environment.

Financial Highlights 
B$(000)

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Net Income
Earnings per share (cents)

61,863
51.5 

78,637
65.4

83,904
69.8

109,860
91.4

100,700
83.8

Total assets 
Total equity 

3,598,996
730,854

3,762,672
707,181

4,137,990
645,812

4,668,455
643,332

 4,423,961
596,738

Return on assets*
Return on tangible equity*
Ratio of operating expenses to revenues

1.7%
11.6%
45.6%

2.0%
16.7%
42.2%

1.9%
18.2%
37.5%

2.4%
25.2%
31.8%

2.6%
26.0%
38.3%

Dividends per share (cents)

Dividend pay-out ratio
Dividend times covered

31
60%
1.66

35
54%
1.87

45
64%
1.55

47
51%
1.94

55
66%
1.52

* Based on four quarters rolling averages
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REVIEW OF CONSOLIDATED  STATEMENT OF INCOME

Net interest income and margin
Net interest income (NII) represents interest earned 
on loans, securities and deposits with other banks, less 
interest paid on deposits from customers and banks 
and other borrowings. NII for the year decreased by 
$13.9 million or  9.7%, from $142.9 million last year 
to $129.0 million in 2010.  Interest income declined by 
$24.0 million or 11.1%; partially offset by a decrease in 
interest expense of $10.2 million or  13.7%.  The decline 
in interest income was driven primarily by a decline in 
loan and cash placements interest, as a result of lower 
average volumes and yields; and securities interest as a 
consequence of selling investment securities during the 
year and re-investing in less risky securities. The decline in 
interest expenses was a result of deposit interest expense, 
similarly driven by lower fixed deposit volumes and rates; 
and partially offset by increases in other borrowed funds 
due to higher interest expenses on derivatives.  

Other operating income
Other operating income increased by $14.8 million or 
58%, from the previous year.  The increase was primarily 
due to a decline in trading losses as a result of the 
disposition of the trading portfolio in 2009, and net gains 
arising from hedging activity.  

Operating expenses
Operating expenses increased by $6 million, or 8.5% over 
the previous year, primarily due to higher management 
fees paid to the parent company, partially offset by lower 
staff costs. 

As a result of the increase in operating expenses, the 
Bank’s efficiency ratio (operating expenses as a percentage 
of gross revenue) increased to 45.6%, compared to 42.2% 
in the prior year.

Loan loss expenses increased by $11.7 million 
or 63.1%, year over year. In Fiscal 2010, the Bank 
worked closely with its customers to manage their debt 
obligations, however, loan loss expense increased as the 
credit portfolio continued to be impacted by the current 
economic conditions.  

REVIEW OF CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets were $3.6 billion, a decrease of $163.7 million 
or 4.3% from last year. The decline primarily reflects 
decreases in cash resources and loan balances, partially 
offset by increases in investment securities. Deposits and 
other liabilities decreased by $187.3 million or 6.1% from 
prior year, primarily due to a reduction in customer deposits. 

Summary Statement of Financial Position
B$(000)

2010 2009

Assets
Cash and due from banks 238,119 411,371
Securities 687,462 580,259
Loans and advances 2,418,836 2,541,756
Other assets 254,579 229,286

3,598,996 3,762,672
Liabilities and Equity 
Deposits 2,767,359 2,985,964
Other liabilities 100,783 69,527
Equity 730,854 707,181

3,598,996 3,762,672

MANAGEMENT’S DISCuSSION AND ANALySIS
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Equity

The Bank continues to maintain a strong capital base, with 
capital ratios well above the regulatory requirements.  At 
October 31, 2010, the Tier I capital ratio and the Total 
capital ratio of the Bank were 20.89% (2009 – 18.85%) 
and 21.47% (2009 – 19.46%) respectively, both exhibiting 
improvements over the previous year-end positions.

RISK MANAGEMENT APPROACH

FirstCaribbean assumes a variety of risks in its ordinary 
business activities. Risk is defined as any event that could: 
damage the core earnings capacity of the Bank; increase 
earnings or cash flow volatility; reduce capital; threaten 
business reputation or viability; and/or breach regulatory 
or legal obligations. 

The Bank’s approach to risk management is based 
on sound banking principles and a robust governance 
structure. Risk is managed within tolerance levels 
established by our management committees and 
approved by the Board of Directors and its committees 
(the Board). This is achieved through a comprehensive 
framework of measurement, monitoring and control 
policies, procedures and processes.  Further information 
on credit, market and liquidity risks within the Bank 
can be found in note 26 of the consolidated financial 
statements section.

Primary responsibility for the management of risk 
lies with line management in our various individual 
businesses. The risk management department, which 
reports to the Chief Risk Officer, develops risk policies 
and procedures and provides independent oversight and 
analysis through its five centrally based teams - credit 
risk, market risk, receivables management, compliance 
and operational risk management and controls.

Cash and due from banks
Cash and due from banks decreased by $173.3 million, or   
42%. The reduction was a result of the net purchase of 
securities and payment of deposits, offset by repayment 
of loan balances.          

Securities
Investment securities increased by $107.2 million or 18.5%, 
from the previous year reflecting net purchases of bank 
paper and government debt securities. The disposal of 
securities during the year generated gains of $4.8 million.

Loans and advances

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Loans to deposits 87% 85% 74% 66% 69%

Net loans and advances to customers were $2.42 billion 
compared to $2.54 billion in the prior year.  Business and 
government, which account for 43% of the portfolio, 
decreased $72.6 million or 6.3% year over year. 
Mortgage and personal loans also declined by $19.2 
million and $25.8 million, respectively.

 Productive loans were $2.13 billion, down $175.1 
million or 7.6%, from the prior year. This decrease primarily 
reflects a combination of paydowns and repayments 
of loans, and a shift of loans from productive to non-
productive (impaired) classifications, which increased by 
$57.5 million or 17.7%. 

Deposits
Customer deposits decreased by $218.6 million or 7.3% 
from the previous year, primarily driven by international 
deposit movements. Bank deposits decreased by $68.0    
million, or 13.1% primarily due to related party balances.  
Individual, and business and government deposits 
decreased 5.7% and 6.9%, respectively. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCuSSION AND ANALySIS
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The Bank’s risk management policies and procedures 
are designed to identify and analyze these risks, to set 
appropriate risk limits, and to monitor and enhance risk 
management practices to reflect changes in markets, 
products and evolving best practice. 

A robust risk and control governance structure 
is embedded within each strategic business unit.  
Representatives from the risk teams interact with the senior 
leadership of each business unit in order to identify and 
manage risks in the respective businesses.  This approach 
is supported by comprehensive enterprise reporting.  

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk a customer or counterparty will be 
unable or unwilling to meet a commitment that it has 
entered into and that any security pledged in support 
of the credit does not cover the customer’s liabilities 
to the Bank in the event of a repayment default.  The 
credit risks in FirstCaribbean arise primarily from 
lending activities to customers but also occur with 
bonds, guarantees and securities.

Credit risk is managed and controlled on the basis 
of established credit processes and policies operating 
within a framework of delegated authorities. In addition 
to approving the Bank’s key credit policies and setting 
credit risk appetites and tolerances, the Risk and Conduct 
Review Committee of the Board also delegates credit 
approval limits to the Credit Committee of the Bank. The 
Chief Risk Officer, who also delegates lending authority 
to individual members of the Credit Risk Management 
Department, and also to frontline lenders, chairs the 
Credit Committee. There is appropriate segregation of 
duties between customer facing functions responsible 
for originating and managing exposures, the Credit Risk 
Management function responsible for credit adjudication 
and oversight and the operations function responsible for 
disbursing loans and safekeeping security.  

Credit grading, scoring and monitoring systems 
facilitate the early identification and management of 
deterioration in loan quality.  The credit management 
process is underpinned by an independent system of credit 
review by credit conformance teams.  Delinquent facilities 
are subject to separate and additional oversight by the 
receivables management team.  Classification is automated 
and operates strictly in line with regulatory and accounting 
standards. Credit provisions are independently calculated in 
accordance with Central Bank guidelines.

Market Risk
Market risk is the measurement of potential loss arising 
from adverse movements in interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates, equity and commodity prices, and 
credit spread risk in the Bank’s investment portfolios. 
It arises in trading activities, as well as in the natural 
course of wholesale and retail business. The principal 
aim of FirstCaribbean’s market risk management 
activities is to limit the adverse impact of interest rate 
and exchange rate movements on profitability and 
shareholder value and to enhance earnings within 
defined limits.

The Risk and Conduct Review Committee of the 
Board reviews market risk strategy and overall limits. It 
approves key policies and oversees the measurement, 
monitoring and control regime.   

There is no single risk measure that captures all aspects 
of market risk. FirstCaribbean uses several risk measures 
including Value at Risk (‘VaR’), sensitivity measures and 
stress testing. Market risks are managed by setting limits 
based upon the specific markets and products where 
FirstCaribbean is involved, as well as the amount of the 
Bank’s capital at risk. These measurement methodologies 
utilize international best practice. There is a centralized, 
dedicated risk management team charged with the 
responsibility to ensure that the risk measurement 
methodologies used are appropriate for the risks being 
taken and that appropriate measurement, monitoring 
and control procedures are in place.

Compliance Risk
Compliance risks are associated with failures to comply 
with laws, regulations, rules, and the codes of ethics 
and conduct applicable to our business activities. Such 
failures can give rise to legal or regulatory sanctions, 
material financial loss, or a loss of reputation to the Bank.

Primary responsibility for compliance lies with line 
management. The compliance team within the risk 
management department is tasked with identifying 
the compliance obligations in each segment. It also 
provides advice and guidance to the business lines on 
compliance risks and the development of appropriate 
policies and procedures to ensure compliance with all 
legislation and internal code of conduct and ethics 
policies. It independently assesses and monitors 
compliance and reports to the Audit & Governance 
Committee of the Board.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCuSSION AND ANALySIS
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Operational Risk
FirstCaribbean defines operational risk as the exposure 
to loss from failed or inadequate internal processes, 
people and systems or from external events. It is the 
risk of direct or indirect loss, or damaged reputation, 
due to deficiencies or errors in the Bank’s internal 
operations which may be attributable to fraud, human 
error, processes or technology failure, or due to external 
events. Operational risks are inherent in all activities 
within the Bank, including its outsourced activities and in 
all interactions with external parties. 

Strong internal control and quality management, 
consisting of a fraud framework, leadership and trained staff, 
is the key to successful operational risk management. Each 
strategic business unit is primarily responsible for managing 
its own operational risks. Risk management develops and 
maintains the framework for identifying, monitoring and 
controlling operational risks and supports the business 
in implementing the framework and raising awareness 
of operational risks. The team sets policy and monitors 
compliance. Operational risk management activities across 
the Bank are reported regularly to the Audit & Governance 
Committee and Risk and Conduct Review Committee.

FirstCaribbean’s operational risk management 
framework includes ongoing monitoring through self-

assessment of control deficiencies and weaknesses, and 
the tracking of incidents and loss events to ensure that, 
once identified, control deficiencies are communicated 
and remedied in a timely fashion across the Bank.  

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group will 
experience difficulty in financing its assets and meeting its 
contractual payment obligations, or will only be able to do 
so at an unacceptably high cost.  FirstCaribbean is exposed 
to liquidity risk through our general funding activities and in 
the management of our assets and liabilities. 

FirstCaribbean’s exposure to liquidity risk is governed 
by a policy approved by the Board. The operation of 
the policy is delegated to management in the form of 
the Asset and Liabilities Committee (ALCO). The Bank’s 
ALCO is responsible for monitoring liquidity risk. Day-
to-day management of liquidity is handled by the 
treasury team.

The Bank performs stress tests and scenario analysis 
to evaluate the impact of stresses on its liquidity position. 
These tests are at both a Bank specific and systemic risk 
level. The results are reported to the Board quarterly and 
independently reviewed by the market risk function.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCuSSION AND ANALySIS
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of FirstCaribbean International Bank (Bahamas) Limited

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the Bank’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Bank as of October 31, 2010, and its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

December 15, 2010

We have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of FirstCaribbean International 
Bank (Bahamas) Limited (the “Bank”) which comprise 
the consolidated statement of financial position as of 
October 31, 2010 and the consolidated statement of 
income, consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the  
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards.  This 
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and 
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our audit.  
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.
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Notes

2010

$

2009

$
ASSETS
Cash and balances with central bank     3 89,193 102,273
Due from banks     4 148,926 309,098
Derivative financial instruments     5 12,656 -
Other assets     6 18,791 2,499
Investment securities     7 687,462 580,259
Loans and advances to customers     8 2,418,836 2,541,756
Property and equipment     9 25,346 26,009
Retirement benefit assets   10 10,039 13,031
Goodwill   11 187,747 187,747

Total assets 3,598,996 3,762,672

LIABILITIES
Customer deposits   12 2,767,359 2,985,964
Derivative financial instruments     5 75,976 54,160
Other liabilities   13 20,334 11,175
Retirement benefit obligations   10 4,473 4,192

Total liabilities 2,868,142 3,055,491

EQUITY
Share capital and reserves  14 442,483 442,059
Retained earnings 288,371 265,122

Total equity 730,854 707,181

Total liabilities and equity 3,598,996 3,762,672

Approved by the Board of Directors on December 15, 2010 and signed on its behalf by:

Michael Mansoor Marie Rodland-Allen
Chairman Managing Director

See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

As of October 31, 2010  (expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)



23

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

For the year ended October 31, 2010  (expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

Notes

         2010

    $

        2009

$
Interest and similar income 192,990 217,018
Interest and similar expense 63,955 74,125

Net interest income 15 129,035 142,893
Other operating income          16 40,126 25,342

Total operating income 169,161 168,235

Operating expenses 17 77,094 71,079
Loan loss impairment   8 30,204 18,519

Total operating expenses 107,298 89,598

Net income for the year 61,863 78,637

Earnings per share 
(expressed in cents per share)
- basic 18 51.5 65.4

See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended October 31, 2010  (expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

Notes

2010

$

2009

$
Net income for the year 61,863 78,637

Other comprehensive income:

Net (loss)/gain on available-for-sale investment securities 20 (924) 24,808

Total comprehensive income for the year 60,939 103,445

See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuITy

For the year ended October 31, 2010  (expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

Notes

Share

capital

$

Reserves

$

Retained

earnings

$

Total

equity

$
Balance at October 31, 2008 477,230 (63,383) 231,965 645,812

Total comprehensive income for the year 14 - 24,808 78,637 103,445
Dividends 19 - - (42,076) (42,076)
Transfer to statutory reserve fund –  

Turks & Caicos Islands 14 - 5,028 (5,028) -
Transfer to statutory loan loss reserve – Bahamas 14 - (1,624) 1,624 -

Balance at October 31, 2009 477,230 (35,171) 265,122 707,181

Total comprehensive income for the year 14 - (924) 61,863 60,939
Dividends 19 - - (37,266) (37,266)
Transfer to statutory reserve fund – 

Turks & Caicos Islands 14 - 4,703 (4,703) -
Transfer to statutory loan loss reserve – Bahamas 14 - (3,355) 3,355 -

Balance at October 31, 2010 477,230 (34,747) 288,371 730,854

See accompanying notes.
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Notes
2010

$
2009

$

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income 61,863 78,637
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
   activities:
Loan loss impairment 8 30,204 18,519
Depreciation of property and equipment 9 3,373 3,470
(Gain) loss on disposal/write-off of property and equipment 17 (4) 116
Net gains on sale and redemption of investment securities  16 (4,847) (4,493)
Interest income on investment securities 15 (35,224)    (40,502)
Loss from change in fair value and unamortized premium (3,176) (10,065)
Interest expense on other borrowed funds 15 12,613 8,361
Cash flows from net income before changes in operating assets 
   and liabilities 64,802 54,043
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
   - net decrease (increase) in due from banks 
       – greater than 90 days 26,104 (37,451)
   - net decrease in mandatory reserves with The Central Bank 577 2,694
   - net decrease  in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 304,936
   - net decrease (increase) in loans and advances to customers 92,716 (21,203)
   - net (increase) decrease in other assets (25,956) 27,905
   - net decrease in customer deposits (218,605) (459,046)
   - net  increase in other liabilities 31,256 22,359
Net cash used in operating activities (29,106) (105,763)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment 9 (2,710) (3,754)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 9 4 72
Purchases of investment securities (752,845) (162,629)
Interest paid on other borrowed funds (12,664) (8,361)
Interest income received on investment securities 35,718 45,079
Proceeds from sale and redemption of investment securities 7 652,298 394,095
Net cash (used in) from investing activities (80,199) 264,502
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid 19   (37,266) (42,076)
Net cash used in financing activities (37,266) (42,076)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (146,571) 116,663

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 3 215,426 98,763

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year (note 3) 68,855 215,426

See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

For the year ended October 31, 2010  (expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

October 31, 2010  (expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

1. General information

FirstCaribbean International Bank (Bahamas) Limited 
(the “Bank”) was formerly named CIBC Bahamas Limited 
(“CIBC Bahamas”) and was controlled by Canadian 
Imperial Bank of Commerce (CIBC), a company 
incorporated in Canada.  The Bank changed its name 
to FirstCaribbean International Bank (Bahamas) Limited 
on October 11, 2002, following the combination of 
the retail, corporate and offshore banking operations 
of Barclays Bank PLC in The Bahamas and the Turks & 
Caicos Islands (“Barclays Bahamas”) and CIBC Bahamas.

The Bank is a subsidiary of FirstCaribbean International 
Bank Limited, formerly CIBC West Indies Holdings Limited 
(the “Parent” or “FCIB”), a company incorporated in 
Barbados, which owns 95.2% of the Bank.  The Parent 
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Parent Group”) is 
owned by CIBC. 

The registered office of the Bank is located at the 
FirstCaribbean Financial Centre, 2nd Floor, Shirley 
Street, Nassau, Bahamas.  

2. Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
are set out below.

2.1 Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for available-
for-sale securities, derivative financial instruments and 
financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value 
through profit or loss, which have all been measured 
at fair value.  The carrying values of recognized assets 
and liabilities that are hedged items in fair value hedges, 
and otherwise carried at amortized cost, are adjusted 
to record changes in fair value attributable to the risks 
that are being hedged. The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Bahamian dollars, and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousands, except 
when otherwise indicated. 

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Bank 
have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  

Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the 
financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries 
as at October 31, 2010 (the “reporting date”). The 
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for 
the same reporting year as the Bank, using consistent 
accounting policies.

All subsidiaries, which are those companies in which 
the Bank directly or indirectly holds the majority of the 
voting rights and where it determines their financial 
and business policies and is able to exercise control over 
them in order to benefit from their financial and business 
activities, have been fully consolidated.  The principal 
subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 27. Subsidiaries are 
consolidated from the date on which the effective control 
is transferred to the Bank. They are de-consolidated from 
the date that control ceases.

All inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized 
surpluses and deficits on transactions and balances 
have been eliminated. Where necessary, the accounting 
policies used by subsidiaries have been changed to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Bank.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account 
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Bank. The cost 
of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the 
assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities 
incurred or assumed at the date of the exchange, plus 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  Identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially 
at their fair values at the date of acquisition, irrespective 
of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the 
cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Bank’s share 
of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as 
goodwill.  If the cost of the acquisition is less than the 
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, 
the difference is recognized directly in the consolidated 
statement of income. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 Significant accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements 
in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make certain significant estimates and judgments that 
affect amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results 
could differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and 
are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances.  The estimates and 
judgements that have a significant risk of causing material 
adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below.

i) Fair value of financial instruments
Certain financial instruments are recorded at fair value 
using valuation techniques in which current market 
transactions or observable market data are not available. 
Their fair value is determined using a valuation model 
that has been tested against prices or inputs to actual 
market transactions and using the Bank’s best estimates 
of the most appropriate model assumptions. Models are 
adjusted to reflect the spread for bid and ask prices to 
reflect costs to close out positions, counterparty credit 
and liquidity spread and limitations in the model.

ii) Impairment losses on loans and  advances 
 to customers
The Bank reviews individually its significant loans and 
advances to customers at each reporting date to assess 
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in 
the consolidated statement of income.  In particular, 
judgement by management is required in the estimation 
of the amount and timing of future cash flows when 
determining the impairment loss.  In estimating these 
cash flows, the Bank makes judgements about the 
borrower’s financial situation and the net realizable 
value of the collateral.  These estimates are based on 
assumptions about a number of factors and actual results 
may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance. 
  
Loans and advances to customers that have been 
assessed individually and found not to be impaired and 
all individually insignificant loans and advances are then 
assessed collectively, in groups of assets with similar risk 
characteristics, to determine whether provisions should 
be made due to incurred loss events for which there is 
objective evidence but whose effects are not yet evident.  

The collective assessment takes account of data from 
the loan portfolio such as credit quality, levels of arrears, 
credit utilization, loan to collateral ratios, concentrations 
of risks and economic data, country risk and the 
performance of different individual groups.

iii)   Retirement benefit obligations
Accounting for some retirement benefit obligations 
requires the use of actuarial techniques to make a reliable 
estimate of the amount of benefit that employees have 
earned in return for their service in the current and 
prior periods. These actuarial assumptions are based 
on management’s best estimates of the variables that 
will determine the ultimate cost of providing post-
employment benefits and comprise both demographic 
and financial assumptions. Variations in the financial 
assumptions can cause material adjustments in the 
next financial year if it is determined that the actual 
experience differed from the estimate.

iv) Impairment of available-for-sale investments
Management makes judgements at each reporting date 
to determine whether available-for-sale investments are 
impaired. These investments are impaired when the 
carrying value is greater than the recoverable amount 
and there is objective evidence of impairment.

v) Goodwill
In accordance with IAS 36, goodwill is reviewed for 
impairment annually using the “value in use” method.  
This requires the use of estimates for determination 
of future cash flows expected to arise from each cash-
generating unit and an appropriate discount rate 
to calculate present value. Management also makes 
judgements at each reporting date to determine whether 
goodwill is impaired or not.

2.3 Adoption of new accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with 
those used in the previous financial year except for 
adoption of the following standards, amendments and 
interpretations:

• IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Standards – Cost of an investment in a Subsidiary, 
Jointly controlled Entity or Associate (Amendments)

• IFRS 2 Share-based Payment – vesting Conditions 
and Cancellations (Amendments)

• IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised)
• IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Amendments)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

• IFRS 8 Operating Segments
• IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)
• IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (Revised)
• IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 

Statements – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, 
Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate (Amendments)

• IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements (Amendment)

• IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 
1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Puttable 
Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on 
Liquidation (Amendments)

• IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items (Amendment)

• IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives 
and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement – Embedded Derivatives 
(Amendments)

• IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of 
Real Estate

• IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners
• IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers
• Improvements to International Financial Reporting 

Standards (issued 2008)

In addition, the Bank has adopted the elements of 
Improvements to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (issued 2008 and 2009) which were required 
for annual periods beginning after July 1, 2009. 

Adoption of these revised standards and interpretations 
did not have any effect on the financial performance 
or position of the Bank. They did, however, give rise to 
revised or additional disclosures in the new statement 
of total recognized gains and losses (IAS1 Presentation 
of Financial Statements (Revised)), Note 25 (IFRS 8 
Operating Segments) and Note 26H (IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures (Amendment)).

2.4  Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
are set out below:

(1) Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Bahamian dollars, which is the Bank’s functional and 
presentational currency. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into the functional currency 
at rates prevailing at the reporting date  and non-
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historic 
rates.  Revenue and expenses denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into the Bank’s functional 
currency using prevailing average monthly exchange 
rates.  Realized and unrealized gains and losses on foreign 
currency positions are reported in income of the current 
year. Translation differences on non-monetary items, 
such as equities classified as available-for-sale securities, 
are included in the available-for-sale reserve in equity.

(2) Financial instruments

The Bank classifies its financial assets into the following 
categories:

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(ii) Loans and receivables
(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets 

Management determines the classification of its 
investments at initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category comprises financial assets held for trading.  
A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or 
if so designated by management.

Management may designate a financial asset at fair 
value through profit or loss when certain criteria are 
met, and designation is determined on an instrument by 
instrument basis:

• The designation eliminates or significantly reduces 
the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise 
from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognizing 
gains or losses on them on a different basis; or 

• The assets and liabilities are part of a group of 
financial assets, financial liabilities or both which 
are managed and their performance revaluated on 
a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented 
risk management or investment strategy; or

• The financial instrument contains an embedded 
derivative, which significantly modifes the cash flows 
that otherwise would be required by the contract.
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As of October 31, 2010 and 2009, the Bank held no 
financial assets at fair value  through profit or loss.

(ii) Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances to customers are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. 

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are those intended to 
be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be 
sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in 
interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices.

All purchases and sale of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss and available-for-sale that require 
delivery within the timeframe generally established by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace (“regular 
way” purchases and sales) are recognized on the 
settlement date, which is the date that an asset is 
delivered to or by the Bank, otherwise, such transactions 
are treated as derivatives until settlement occurs.  Loans 
and advances to customers are recognized when cash is 
advanced to the borrower. 

Financial assets, not carried at fair value through profit or 
loss, are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction 
costs.  Financial assets are derecognized when the rights 
to receive the cash flow from the financial assets have 
expired or where the Bank has transferred substantially 
all risks and rewards of ownership.

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently re-
measured at fair value based on quoted bid prices or 
amounts derived from cash flow models. Loans and 
advances to customers are carried at amortized cost using 
the effective interest yield method, less any provisions 
for impairment. Unrealized gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of securities classified as 
available-for-sale are recognized in other comprehensive 
income. When the securities are disposed of or impaired, 
the related accumulated fair value adjustments are 
included in the consolidated statement of income as 
gains and losses from investment securities.  

Unquoted equity instruments for which fair values 
cannot be measured reliably are recognized at cost less 
impairment.  

All gains and losses from disposals and/or changes in the 
fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss and derivatives held for trading are included 
in operating income as net trading gains or losses. All 
gains and losses from disposals of investment securities 
available for sale are included in operating income as 
net investment securities gains or losses. Where certain 
financial assets are hedged and there is ineffectiveness, 
this is included in operating income as net hedge 
relationship losses. Dividends are recorded on the accrual 
basis when declared and are included in investment 
securities interest and similar income.

(3) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when there is a legally enforceable 
right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.

(4) Derecognition of financial assets and financial 
liabilities

(i) Financial assets
A financial asset (or where applicable a part of a financial 
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognized when:

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired; or

• The Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 
pay the received cash flows in full without material 
delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and 

• Either (a) the Bank has transferred substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Bank 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.

When the Bank has transferred its right to receive cash 
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, nor 
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to 
the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement in the 
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asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and 
the maximum amount of consideration that the Bank 
could be required to pay. 

When continuing involvement takes the form of a 
written and/or purchased option (including a cash-
settled option or similar provision) on the transferred 
asset, the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement 
is the amount of the transferred asset and the option 
exercise price.

The Bank may repurchase, except that in the case of a 
written put option (including a cash-settled option or 
similar provision) on an asset measured at fair value, the 
extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement is limited 
to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and 
the option exercise price.  

(ii) Financial liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.  
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated 
as a derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability, and the difference in 
the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of income. 

(5) Derivative financial instruments and hedge 
accounting 

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Bank uses derivative financial instruments such as 
forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to 
manage its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk 
respectively. Such derivative financial instruments are 
initially recognized at fair value on the date on which a 
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as 
financial assets when the fair value is positive and as 
financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value 
on derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated 
statement of income, except for the effective portion 
of cash flow hedges, which is recognized in other 
comprehensive income.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are 
classified as:
• Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to 

changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or 
liability or an unrecognized firm commitment 
(except for foreign currency risk).

• Cash flow hedges when hedging exposure to 
variability in cash flows that is either attributable to 
a particular risk associated with a recognized asset 
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction 
or the foreign currency risk in an unrecognized 
firm commitment.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Bank 
formally designates and documents the hedge 
relationship to which the Bank wishes to apply hedge 
accounting and the risk management objective and 
strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation 
includes identification of the hedging instrument, the 
hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being 
hedged and how the entity will assess the effectiveness 
of changes in the hedging instrument’s fair value in 
offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s 
fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. 
Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in 
achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows 
and are assessed at inception and on a monthly basis to 
determine that they actually have been highly effective 
throughout the financial reporting periods for which 
they were designated.

Hedges which meet the Bank’s strict criteria for hedge 
accounting are accounted for as follows:

(a) Fair value hedges
For hedging relationships which are designated and 
qualify as fair value hedges and that prove to be highly 
effective in relation to the hedged risk, changes in the fair 
value of the derivatives are recorded in the consolidated 
statement of income in ‘Net hedging gains/(losses)’ 
(Note 16), along with the corresponding change in fair 
value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable 
to that specific hedged risk.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, an adjustment to the carrying amount of a 
hedged interest-bearing financial instrument is amortized 
to net profit or loss over the remaining period to maturity.

(b) Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of 
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 
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hedges are recognized in other comprehensive income.  
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognized immediately in the consolidated statement 
of income in ‘Net hedging gains/(losses)’ (Note 16).

Amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income 
are recycled to the consolidated statement of income in 
the periods in which the hedged item will affect profit or 
loss (for example, when the forecast sale that is hedged 
takes place). 

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or 
when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in 
other comprehensive income at that time remains 
in other comprehensive income and is recognized 
when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognized 
in the consolidated statement of income.  When a 
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in other 
comprehensive income is immediately transferred to the 
consolidated statement of income.

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge 
accounting or are not so designated, and changes in the 
fair value of these derivatives are included in net trading 
income or losses in the consolidated statement of income.

(6)  Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities sold subject to linked repurchase agreements 
(‘repos’) are retained in the consolidated statement 
of financial position as investment securities and the 
counterparty liability is included in other borrowed 
funds.  Securities purchased under agreements to resell 
at a specified future date (‘reverse repos’) are recorded 
as loans and advances to other banks or customers 
as appropriate.  The difference between the sale and 
repurchase price is treated as interest and is accrued over 
the life of the agreement using the effective interest rate 
yield method. 

(7) Impairment of financial assets

The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is objective evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired and 
impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is 

objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of 
the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) 
has an impact on the future cash flows of the financial 
asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated.  Objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired includes observable 
data that comes to the attention of the Bank about the 
following loss events:

i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
ii) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency 

in interest or principal payments;
iii) the Bank granting to a borrower, for economic or 

legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, a concession that the lender would not 
otherwise consider;

iv) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;

v) the disappearance of an active market for that 
financial asset because of financial difficulties; or 

vi) observable data indicating that there is a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a 
group of financial assets since the initial recognition 
of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet 
be identified with the individual financial assets in 
the group, including:
- adverse changes in the payment status of 

borrowers in the group; or 
-  national or local economic conditions that 

correlate with default on the assets in the group.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment 
loss on loans and advances to customers or held-to-
maturity investments carried at amortized cost has 
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as 
the difference between the carrying amount and the 
recoverable amount, being the estimated present value 
of expected cash flows, including amounts recoverable 
from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the 
current effective interest rate.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the 
related provision for impairment; subsequent recoveries 
are credited to the provision for impairment losses.  If the 
amount of the impairment subsequently decreases due 
to an event occurring after the write-down, the release 
of the provision is credited to the provision for loan loss 
impairment in the consolidated statement of income.
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In circumstances where central bank guidelines and 
regulatory rules require provisions in excess of those 
calculated under IFRS, the difference is accounted for as 
an appropriation of retained earnings and is included in 
a non-distributable general banking reserve.

(8) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Bank assesses at each reporting date or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value may be impaired, whether there is 
an indication that a non-financial asset may be impaired.  
If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment 
testing for an asset is required, the Bank makes an 
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.  Where the 
carrying amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or cash-
generating unit) is considered impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount.

For assets, excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at 
each reporting date as to whether there is any indication 
that previously recognized impairment losses may no 
longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously 
recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment 
loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses relating to Goodwill cannot 
be reversed for subsequent increases in its recoverable 
amount in future periods.

(9) Recognition of income and expenses

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and 
the revenue can be reliably measured.  The following 
specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognized: 

(i) Interest and similar income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognized in the 
consolidated statement of income for all interest-bearing 
instruments on an accrual basis, using the effective 
interest yield method based on the actual purchase 
price or estimated recoverable amount. Interest income 
includes coupons earned on fixed income investment 
and trading securities and accrued discount and premium 
on treasury bills and other discounted instruments.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets 
has been written down as a result of an impairment loss, 
interest income is recognized using the original effective 
interest rate for the purpose of measuring impairment loss.

(ii) Fee and commission income
Fees and commissions are generally recognized on an 
accrual basis when the service has been provided. Loan 
origination fees for loans, which have a high probability 
of being drawn, are deferred (together with related direct 
costs) and recognized as an adjustment to the effective 
interest yield on the loan. Commissions and fees arising from 
origination, negotiating, or participating in the negotiation 
of a transaction for a third party, such as the acquisition of 
loans, shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of 
businesses, are recognized on completion of the underlying 
transaction. Portfolio and other management advisory 
and service fees are recognized based on the applicable 
service contracts, usually on a time-apportionate basis.  
Asset management fees related to investment funds are 
recognized rateably over the period the service is provided. 
The same principle is applied for wealth management, 
financial planning and custody services that are continuously 
provided over an extended period of time.

(10) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition 
over the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the 
acquired subsidiary undertaking at the date of acquisition 
and is reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as an intangible asset.  Goodwill is tested annually 
for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.  Goodwill is allocated to the lowest levels 
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units) for the purpose of impairment testing.  An 
impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use.

(11) Property and equipment

All property and equipment are stated at historical cost 
less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the items. Land and buildings comprise mainly 
branches and offices. Changes in the expected useful life 
are accounted for by changing the amortization period 
or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in 
accounting estimates.
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Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or are recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
to the consolidated statement of income during the 
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property and equipment is computed 
using the straight-line method at rates considered 
adequate to write-off the cost of depreciable assets, less 
salvage, over their useful lives.  Land is not depreciated.  

The annual rates used are:

- Buildings 2½%

- Leasehold improvements 10% or shorter life of the lease

- Equipment, furniture and  
  vehicles 20 – 50%

Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable.  Where the carrying amount of an 
asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it 
is written down immediately to its recoverable amount.  
The asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and the value in use.  

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with carrying amounts and are recognized in 
‘other operating income’ or ‘other operating expenses’ 
within the consolidated statement of income.

(12) Leases
 
Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term and included 
in ‘other operating expenses’.

(13) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, it is more than likely that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of 
the obligation can be made.

(14) Retirement benefit obligations

i) Pension obligations 
The Bank operates a pension plan, the assets of which 
are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. The 
pension plan is funded by payments from employees 
and the Bank, taking account of the recommendations 
of independent qualified actuaries.  The plan has defined 
benefit sections and a defined contribution section.   

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an 
amount of pension benefit to be provided, usually as a 
function of one or more factors such as age, years of 
service or compensation.  A defined contribution plan 
is a pension plan under which the Bank pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will 
have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further 
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets 
to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service 
in the current and prior periods.

The asset/liability recognized in the consolidated 
statement of financial position in respect of defined 
benefit sections of the plan is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation at the reporting date minus 
the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments 
for unrecognized actuarial gains/losses and past service 
costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated 
periodically by independent actuaries using the projected 
unit credit method. The present value of the defined 
benefit obligation is determined by the estimated 
future cash outflows using interest rates of government 
securities that have terms to maturity approximating 
the terms of the related liability. The pension plan is a 
final salary plan and the charge for such pension plan, 
representing the net periodic pension cost less employee 
contributions, is included in staff costs. 

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions 
are charged or credited to income over the expected 
average service lives of the related employees.  Past 
service costs are recognized immediately in income, 
unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional 
on the employees remaining in service for a specified 
period of time (the vesting period).  In this case, past 
service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over 
the vesting period.
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For the defined contribution section of the plan, the Bank 
makes contributions to a private trustee-administered fund. 
Once the contributions have been paid, the Bank has no 
further payment obligations. The regular contributions 
constitute net periodic costs for the year in which they 
are due and as such are included in staff costs. The Bank’s 
contributions in respect of the defined contribution section 
of the plan are charged to the consolidated statement of 
income in the year to which they relate.  

(ii) Other post retirement obligations 
The Bank provides post-retirement healthcare benefits 
to its retirees. The entitlement to these benefits is usually 
based on the employee remaining in service up to 
retirement age and the completion of a minimum service 
period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued 
over the period of employment, using a methodology 
similar to that for defined benefit pension plans.  Actuarial 
gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and 
changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited 
to income over the expected average service lives of 
the related employees. These obligations are valued 
periodically by independent qualified actuaries.

(15) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value less 
transaction costs and are subsequently stated at 
amortized cost, and any difference between net 
proceeds and the redemption value is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of income over the period of the 
borrowings, using the effective interest yield method. 

(16) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and 
cash equivalents comprise balances with less than 90 
days maturity from the date of acquisition including 
cash balances, non-restricted deposits with Central 
Banks (excluding mandatory reserve deposits), treasury 
bills and other money market placements.

(17) Share capital and dividends

(i) Share issue costs
Shares issued for cash are accounted for at the issue 
price less any transaction costs associated with the issue.  
Shares issued as consideration for the purchase of assets, 
or a business, are recorded at the market price on the 
date of the issue.

(ii) Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized in equity in 
the period in which they are declared. Dividends for the 
year that are declared after the reporting date are not 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

(18) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker is the person or group that allocates resources to 
and assesses the performance of the operating segments 
of an entity. The Bank has determined the Group’s 
Executive Management Committee as its chief operating 
decision maker.

All transactions between business segments are 
conducted on an arm’s length basis, with intra-
segment revenue and costs being eliminated in head 
office. Income and expenses directly associated with 
each segment are included in determining business 
segment performance.

(19) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net 
profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.  

(20) Fiduciary activities

The Bank commonly acts as trustee and in other fiduciary 
capacities that result in the holding or placing of assets 
on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans 
and other institutions. These assets and income arising 
thereon are excluded from these consolidated financial 
statements, as they are not assets of the Bank.

(21) Income taxes

The Bank is not subject to income taxes in The Bahamas 
and the Turks and Caicos Islands.

(22) Going concern

The Bank’s management has made an assessment of 
the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
is satisfied that the Bank has the resources to continue 
in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the 
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management is not aware of any material uncertainties 
that may cast significant doubt upon the Bank’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.  Therefore, the consolidated 
financial statements continue to be prepared on the 
going concern basis.

(23) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have been 
adjusted to comply with changes in presentation in the 
current year.

2.5 Future changes in accounting policies

Certain new standards, and amendments to existing 
standards have been published that are mandatory for 
the Bank’s accounting periods beginning on or after 
November 1, 2010 but which the Bank has not early 
adopted, as follows:

• IAS 24 (Revised), Related party transactions
• IFRS 1 (Amendment), First time adoption of 

International Financial Reporting Standards
• IFRS 2 (Amendment), Share-based payment
• IFRS 9, Financial instruments part 1: Classification 

and measurement 
• IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with 

Equity Instruments

IFRS 1 (Amendment) and IFRS 2 (Amendment) are not 
relevant for the Bank’s operations.

The adoption of IFRIC 19 and IAS 24 (Revised) is not 
expected to impact the Bank’s financial performance or 
position, but in the case of IAS 24 (Revised) may result in 
amended disclosures within the related party note. 

IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and replaces 
those parts of IAS 39 relating to the classification and 
measurement of financial assets.  While adoption of IFRS 
9 is mandatory from 1 January 2013, earlier adoption 
is permitted.

Management is considering the implications of the 
standard, the impact on the Bank and the timing of 
its adoption.

Additionally, in April 2009 and May 2010, the IASB 
issued “Improvements to IFRSs”, as part of its annual 
improvements project, and a vehicle for making non-
urgent but necessary amendments to various IFRSs.  
These amendments primarily become effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010 
and 2011 respectively.  Management has decided not to 
early adopt the amendments and does not expect their 
application to have a significant effect.
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3. Cash and Balances with The Central Bank

2010
$

2009
$

Cash 30,872 26,822

Deposits with central bank - non-interest bearing 58,321 75,451

Cash and balances with central bank 89,193 102,273

Less: Mandatory reserve deposits with central bank (48,388) (48,965)

Included in cash and cash equivalents as per below 40,805 53,308

Mandatory reserve deposits with The Central Bank of The Bahamas (“The Central Bank”) represent the Bank’s 
regulatory requirement to maintain a percentage of deposit liabilities as cash or deposits with The Central Bank.  These 
funds are not available to finance the Bank’s day-to-day operations and, as such, are excluded from cash resources to 
arrive at cash and cash equivalents. 

Cash and balances with The Central Bank are non-interest bearing.

Cash and cash equivalents

2010
$

2009
$

Cash and balances with The Central Bank as per above 40,805 53,308
Due from banks, included in cash and cash equivalents 28,050 162,118

68,855 215,426

4. Due from Banks

2010
$

2009
$

Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) 28,050 162,118

Greater than 90 days maturity from date of acquisition 120,821 146,713

Due from banks 148,871 308,831
Add: Accrued interest receivable 55 267

148,926 309,098

Due from banks comprises deposit placements and include amounts placed with other FirstCaribbean Bank entities of 
$61,189 (2009: $116,930) and deposit placements with CIBC entities of $2,969 (2009: $73,875) (Note 22). Due from 
Banks include placements with FCIB Jamaica totalling $59,320 (2009: $76,754) (Note 22), which are pledged in favor 
of that bank in support of loans granted to certain of its customers. The average effective yield on deposit placements 
during the year was 0.58% (2009: 0.78%).
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5. Derivative Financial Instruments

The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments recorded as assets or liabilities, together 
with their notional amounts.  The notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a derivative’s underlying asset, 
reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured.  

The notional and fair value amounts under these contracts at October 31 are shown below:

Contract/
Notional
Amount

Fair Values

Assets Liabilities
$ $ $

October 31, 2010

 Interest rate swaps 427,027 12,291 (75,418)
      Foreign exchange forward 121,050 355 (558)
      Short sales 93 10 -

12,656 (75,976)

October 31, 2009

 Interest rate swaps 228,739 -  (50,833)
 Foreign exchange forward 88,070 - (2,781)

Short sales 18,844 - (546)

- (54,160)

 
As of October 31, 2010 and 2009 the Bank has positions in the following types of derivatives:

Interest rate swaps
Interest rate swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange movements in interest rates.

Foreign exchange forwards contracts
Foreign exchange forwards contracts are contractual agreements to buy or sell a specified amount of foreign currency 
at a future date at an exchange rate fixed at inception of the contract.

Derivative financial instruments held or issued for hedging purposes
As part of its asset and liability management, the Bank uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order to reduce its 
exposure to market risks.  Fair value hedges are used by the Bank to protect it against changes in the fair value of 
specific financial assets due to movements in interest rates.  The financial assets hedged for interest rate risk include 
fixed interest rate loans and available-for-sale securities, and are hedged by interest rate swaps.  

For the year ended October 31, 2010, the Bank recognized losses on hedging instruments of $13,552 (2009: $15,442) 
and gains on hedged items attributable to the hedged risk of $16,984 (2009: $11,875), which is included in other 
operating income as part of net investment securities gains (losses) (Note 16).

Foreign exchange forwards represent commitments to purchase foreign currency including undelivered spot 
transactions.  The counterparty is Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, Toronto.
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6. Other Assets

2010
$

2009
$

Branch clearings 3,514 (3,493)
Suspense accounts (2,041) (1,438)
Other accounts receivable, including clearings 15,969 5,395
Prepayments and deferred items 1,349 2,035

18,791 2,499

7. Investment Securities

2010
$

2009
$

Available-for-sale 
Government bonds 385,696 312,946
Corporate bonds 290,440 255,493

676,136 568,439
Add:  Interest receivable 11,326 11,820

687,462 580,259

Debt securities issued or guaranteed by the Government of The Bahamas amounted to $250,161 (2009: $186,248).  
The effective yield during the year on investment securities was 5.1% (2009: 5.4%).  

 The movement in investment securities (excluding interest receivable) is summarised as follows:

2010
$

2009
$

Balance, beginning of year 568,439 760,539

Additions (purchases, changes in fair value and foreign exchange) 755,148 197,502

Disposals (sales and redemptions) (647,451) (389,602) 

Balance, end of year 676,136 568,439
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8. Loans and Advances to Customers

Mortgages
$

Personal
Loans

$

Business &
Government

Loans
$

2010
Total

$
Performing loans (Note 26) 986,677 230,266 908,544 2,125,487
Impaired loans (Note 26) 167,834 45,453 169,228 382,515

Gross loans 1,154,511 275,719 1,077,772 2,508,002

Less: Provisions for impairment (22,280) (19,339) (47,416) (89,035)

1,132,231 256,380 1,030,356 2,418,967

Add:  Interest receivable 18,158
Less: Unearned fee income (18,289)

2,418,836

Mortgages
$

Personal
Loans

$

Business &
Government

Loans
$

2009
Total

$
Performing loans (Note 26) 1,031,537 253,795 1,015,248 2,300,580
Impaired loans (Note 26) 142,165 47,770 135,085 325,020

Gross loans 1,173,702 301,565 1,150,333 2,625,600

Less: Provisions for impairment (11,296) (18,103) (45,926) (75,325)

1,162,406 283,462 1,104,407 2,550,275

Add:  Interest receivable 10,334
Less: Unearned fee income (18,853)

2,541,756

Movement in provisions for impairment for 2010 is as follows:

Mortgages
$

Personal
Loans

$

Business &
Government 

Loans
$

2010
Total

$
Balance, beginning of year 11,296 18,103 45,926 75,325
Identified impairment 15,007 8,919 4,256 28,182
Unidentified impairment 582 734 706 2,022
Recoveries of bad and doubtful debts - 1,125 3 1,128
Bad debts written off (4,605) (9,542) (3,475) (17,622)

Balance, end of year 22,280 19,339 47,416 89,035
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Mortgages
$

Personal
Loans

$

Business &
Government 

Loans
$

2009
Total

$
Balance, beginning of year 12,908 21,790 30,122 64,820
Identified impairment (428) 2,916 15,919 18,407
Unidentified impairment (78) (466) 656 112
Recoveries of bad and doubtful debts - 1,451 151 1,602
Bad debts written off (1,106) (7,588) (922) (9,616)

Balance, end of year 11,296 18,103 45,926         75,325

Ageing analysis of past due but not impaired loans for 2010

Mortgages
$

Personal
Loans

$

Business &
Government 

Loans
$

2010
Total

$
Less than 30 days 164,060 21,889 119,809 305,758
31 – 60 days 47,707 6,271 71,637 125,615
61- 90 days 23,080 2,513 2,714 28,307

234,847 30,673 194,160 459,680

Ageing analysis of past due but not impaired loans for 2009

Mortgages
$

Personal
Loans

$

Business &
Government 

Loans
$

2009
Total

$
Less than 30 days 215,870 29,775 88,179 333,824
31 – 60 days 50,029 7,227 73,491 130,747
61- 90 days 324 31 1 356

266,223 37,033 161,671 464,927

The average interest yield during the year on loans and advances was 6.5% (2009: 6.6%).  

Loan loss impairment is calculated as follows:
2010

$
2009

$
Doubtful debt expense 28,182 18,407
Net movement in inherent risk provisions             2,022 112

Loan loss impairment for the year 30,204 18,519
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9. Property and Equipment

Land and
Buildings

$

Equipment,
Furniture 

and Vehicles
$

Leasehold
Improvements

$

2010
Total

$
Cost
Balance, November 1, 2009 20,268 25,158 11,367 56,793
Purchases 909 1,670 131 2,710
Work-in-progress transfers (1,217) 776 441          -
Disposals - (38) - (38)

Balance, October 31, 2010 19,960 27,566 11,939 59,465

Accumulated depreciation
Balance, November 1, 2009 3,619 19,529 7,636 30,784
Depreciation (Note 17) 536 2,010 827 3,373
Disposals - (38)                         -   (38)

Balance, October 31, 2010 4,155 21,501 8,463 34,119

Net book value, 
   October 31, 2010 15,805 6,065 3,476 25,346

Land and
Buildings

$

Equipment,
Furniture 

and Vehicles
$

Leasehold
Improvements

$

2009
Total

$
Cost
Balance, November 1, 2008 18,350 35,474 13,255 67,079
Purchases 1,255 1,577 922 3,754
Work-in-progress transfers (1,133) 543 590 -
Disposals - (92) (320) (412)

Balance, October 31, 2009 18,472 37,502 14,447 70,421

Accumulated depreciation
Balance, November 1, 2008 5,641 28,296 7,229 41,166
Depreciation (Note 17) 688 1,950 832 3,470
Disposals / Transfers - (25) (199) (224)

Balance, October 31, 2009 6,329 30,221 7,862 44,412

Net book value, 
   October 31, 2009 12,143 7,281 6,585 26,009
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Included as part of Land and Buildings is an amount for $256 (2009: $694) relating to systems development costs and 
work in progress which is incomplete and not yet in operation and on which no depreciation has been charged.

Cost and accumulated depreciation balances as at November 1, 2009 have been adjusted to reflect reclassifications and 
net write-off of fully depreciated assets which are no longer in use by the Bank, totalling $13,628.

10. Retirement Benefit Assets and Obligations

The Bank has an insured group health plan and a pension plan. The pension plan is a mixture of defined benefit and defined 
contribution schemes. The defined benefit sections of the scheme are non-contributory and allow for additional voluntary 
contributions.  The insured health plan allows for retirees to continue receiving health benefits during retirement.  Independent 
actuaries value the plan every three years using the projected unit credit method. The most recent actuarial valuations of the 
plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried out as at November 1, 2007.

The amounts recognized on the consolidated statement of financial position are determined as follows:

Defined Benefit
Pension Plans

Post Retirement
Medical Benefits

2010
$

2009
$

2010
$

2009
$

Fair value of plan assets 82,526 79,005         - -
Present value of funded obligations (87,626) (79,417) (2,810) (3,840)

(5,100) (412) (2,810) (3,840)
Unrecognized actuarial gain/(loss) 15,139 13,443 (1,663) (352)

Net asset/(liability) 10,039 13,031 (4,473) (4,192)

The pension plan assets include 100,000 (2009: 100,000) ordinary shares in the Bank, with a fair value of $974 (2009: $1,034).
 
The actual return on plan assets for the defined benefit sections of the pension plan was $6,600 (2009: $627).

The amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of income are as follows:

Defined Benefit
Pension Plans

Post Retirement
Medical Benefits

2010
$

2009
$

2010
$

2009
$

Current service costs 3,198 3,061 60 76
Curtailment and settlement costs 352    124 1            226
Expected return on plan assets (5,423) (5,430) - -
Interest cost 4,865 4,585               231   10

Total amount included in staff 
costs (Note 17) 2,992 2,340               292 312
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The movements in the net asset/(liability) recognized on the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

Defined Benefit
Pension Plans

Post Retirement
Medical Benefits

2010
$

2009
$

2010
$

2009
$

Balance, beginning of year 13,031 12,538 (4,192) (4,007)
Charge for the year (Note 17) (2,992) (2,340) (292) (312)
Contributions paid - 2,833 11 127

Balance, end of year 10,039 13,031 (4,473) (4,192)

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

2010
$

2009
$

Present value of funded obligation at beginning of year 79,417 73,826
Interest cost 4,865 4,585
Current service cost 3,198 3,061
Benefits paid (3,080) (1,032)
Actuarial gain/(loss) on obligation 3,226 (1,023)

Present value of funded obligation at end of year 87,626 79,417

Changes in fair value of the plan assets are as follows:

2010
$

2009
$

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 79,005 76,659
Expected return on plan assets 5,423 5,430
Benefits paid (3,080) (1,032)
Total contributions - 3,451
Actuarial gain/(loss) on plan assets 1,178 (5,503)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 82,526 79,005
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The Bank has implemented a contributions holiday and expects to contribute to its defined benefit pension plan in 2011.

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets are as follows:

2010 2009
Equity instruments 54% 53%
Debt instruments 46% 46%
Cash and other - 1%

The overall expected rate of return on assets are determined based on the market prices including published brokers’ 
forecasts prevailing on the date of valuation, applicable to the period that the obligation is to be settled.

The principal actuarial assumptions used at the reporting date are as follows:

Defined Benefit
Pension Plans

2010 2009
Discount rate 5.8% 6.0%
Expected return on plan assets 6.3% 7.0%
Future salary increases 4.5% 4.5%
Future pension increases 3.0% 2.5%

Post Retirement
Medical Benefits

2010 2009
Discount rate 5.8% 6.0%
Premium escalation rate 4.5% 4.5%
Existing retiree age 60 60

The present value of the defined benefit obligation, the related current service cost and past service cost was measured 
using the Projected Unit Method.

Amounts for the current and previous years are as follows:

2010
$

2009
$

2008
$

Defined benefit obligation (87,626) (79,417) (73,826)
Plan assets 82,526 79,005 76,659
(Deficit)/Surplus (5,100) (412) 2,833
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities 1,410 1,023 575
Experience adjustments on plan assets 1,170 (5,503) (20,693)
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Impact of changes in medical premium escalation rate
The impact of a 1% change in the medical premium escalation assumption on the sum of the current service cost and 
on the present value of the obligation is shown in the table below.

    Item

Change of –1% in
 medical premium
      escalation rate

                            $

    Current
    IAS 19

      results
               $

Change of +1% in
  medical premium
       escalation rate

                             $

    Current Service Cost + Interest Cost

    Present Value of Obligation

0.25

2.45

0.29

2.81

0.34

3.24

11. Goodwill

2010
$

2009
$

Carrying amount, October 31 187,747 187,747

Based on the Bank’s assessment of goodwill, there was no impairment charge for the year (2009: $ nil).

12. Customer Deposits

Payable on
demand

$

Payable
after

notice
$

Payable
at a

fixed
date

$

2010
Total

$

2009
Total

$
Individuals 115,967 175,227 728,321 1,019,515 1,081,242
Business and governments 580,634 40,838 652,075 1,273,547 1,368,209
Banks 498 - 452,241 452,739 520,776

697,099 216,065 1,832,637 2,745,801 2,970,227

Add:  Interest payable 85 181 21,292 21,558 15,737

697,184 216,246 1,853,929 2,767,359 2,985,964

Included in deposits from banks are deposits from other FirstCaribbean Bank entities of $418,313 (2009: $477,564) 
(Note 22) and deposits from CIBC entities of $28,349 (2009: $27,453). 

The effective rate of interest on deposits during the year was 1.76% (2009: 2.07%).
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13. Other Liabilities

2010
$

2009
$

Accounts payable and accruals 7,293 7,265
Amount due to related parties (Note 22) 12,479 3,457
Payroll liabilities 525 408
Due to brokers and others 37 45

20,334 11,175

The amount due to related parties refers to balances due to other FirstCaribbean Bank entities as well as CIBC.

14. Share Capital and Reserves

The Bank’s authorized capital is $20 million, comprising 150 million ordinary shares with a par value of $0.10 each and 50 
million preference shares also having a par value of $0.10 each.  All issued ordinary shares are fully paid.  No preference 
shares were issued in 2010 and 2009.  At October 31, 2010 and 2009, the issued share capital was as follows:

Number of 
shares

Share 
par value

$

Share 
premium

$
Total 

$

Ordinary shares, voting 120,216,204 12,022 465,208 477,230

Objectives, policies and procedures
Capital strength provides protection for depositors and 
creditors and allows the Bank to undertake profitable 
business opportunities as they arise.

The Bank’s objective is to employ a strong and efficient 
capital base.  Capital is managed in accordance with 
policies established by the Board of Directors (the 
“Board”).  These policies relate to capital strength, 
capital mix, dividends and return of capital, and the 
unconsolidated capital adequacy of regulated entities.  
Each policy has associated guidelines, and capital is 
monitored continuously for compliance.

Each year a capital plan and three-year outlook are 
established, encompassing all the associated elements 
of capital: forecasts of sources and uses, maturities, 
redemptions, new issuance, corporate initiatives, and 
business growth.  The capital plan is stress-tested in 
various ways to ensure that it is sufficiently robust under 
all reasonable scenarios.  All of the elements of capital 

are monitored throughout the year, and the capital plan 
is adjusted as appropriate.

There were no significant changes made in the objectives, 
policies and procedures during the year.

Regulatory requirements
The Bank’s regulatory capital requirements are 
determined in accordance with guidelines issued by 
the Central Bank.  These guidelines evolve from the 
framework of risk-based capital standards developed 
by the Basel Committee, Bank of International 
Settlement.

Capital standards require that banks maintain minimum 
Tier 1 and Total Capital ratios of 4% and 8%, respectively.  
The Central Bank has established that Bahamian deposit-
taking financial institutions maintain Tier 1 and Total 
Capital ratios of the same, respectively. During the year, 
the Bank has complied in full with all of its regulatory 
capital requirements.
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Regulatory capital
Regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 and Tier 2 Capital, less certain deductions.  Tier 1 Capital is comprised of common 
stock, retained earnings, and non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries, less goodwill and other deductions.  
Tier 2 Capital principally comprises hybrid capital instruments such as subordinated debt and general provisions and 
45% of revaluation reserves on available-for-sale investments.

In 2010, Tier 1 and Total Capital ratios were 20.89% and 21.47%, respectively (2009: 18.85% and 19.46% respectively).

2010
$

2009
$

Share capital 477,230 477,230

Reserves
Statutory reserve fund – Turks and Caicos Islands 27,816 23,113
Statutory loan loss reserve – Bahamas 10,308 13,663
Revaluation reserve – Available-for-sale  investments (9,305) (8,381)
Reverse acquisition reserve (63,566) (63,566)

Total reserves (34,747) (35,171)

Total share capital and reserves 442,483 442,059

Under the Banking (Amendment) Ordinance 2002 of the Turks and Caicos Islands (TCI), the Bank was required in 2004 
to assign capital to the TCI operations in the amount of $24 million.

The movements in reserves were as follows:
2010

$
2009

$
Statutory reserve fund – Turks and Caicos Islands
Balance, beginning of year 23,113 18,085

Transfers from retained earnings 4,703 5,028

Balance, end of year 27,816 23,113

In accordance with the Banking (Amendment) Ordinance 2002 of the TCI and the regulations of the Financial Services 
Commission of the Turks and Caicos Islands, the Bank is required to maintain a statutory reserve fund of not less than 
the amount of its assigned capital.  Where it is less than the assigned capital, the Bank is required to annually transfer 
25% of its net profit earned from its TCI operations to this fund.  The Bank’s practice is to make this transfer based 
on net profits of the preceding fiscal year.  During the year the Bank transferred $4,703 (2009: $5,028) from retained 
earnings to the statutory reserve fund. 
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2010
$

2009
$

Revaluation reserve – available-for-sale
   investments

Balance, beginning of year (8,381) (33,189)

Net (loss) gain from changes in fair value of
   available-for-sale investments (Note 7) (924) 24,808

Balance, end of year (9,305) (8,381)

2010
$

2009
$

Statutory loan loss reserve – Bahamas

Balance, beginning of year 13,663 15,287

Transfers to retained earnings (3,355) (1,624)

Balance, end of year 10,308 13,663

Banking Regulations of The Central Bank of The Bahamas require a general provision in respect of the performing loans 
of at least one percent of these loans. To the extent the inherent risk provision for loans and advances to customers is 
less than this amount, a statutory loan loss reserve has been established and the required additional amount has been 
appropriated from retained earnings, in accordance with IFRS.

Reverse acquisition reserve
2010

$
2009

$

Reverse acquisition reserve, beginning and end of year (63,566) (63,566)

Under the combination on October 11, 2002, CIBC West 
Indies became the legal parent company with Barclays 
transferring its operations to subsidiaries of CIBC West 
Indies in exchange, ultimately, for common shares and 
newly created classes of non-voting and preference 
shares of CIBC West Indies.  Barclays was identified as 
the acquirer as the fair value of its business prior to the 
combination was significantly greater than the fair value 
of CIBC West Indies’ business and as a result Barclays had 
the greater economic interest.  This situation is described 
by IFRS as a reverse acquisition.

In accordance with IFRS, the equity of the combined 
Bank at October 11, 2002 comprised the equity of the 

Barclays branches and subsidiaries ($211,295), together 
with the fair value of the CIBC Bahamas business 
($196,966), for a total of $408,261.  However, the legal 
share capital and premium of the Bank comprises the 
issued share capital and premium of CIBC Bahamas plus 
the shares issued to effect the combination recorded at 
fair value for a total of $478,828 at October 11, 2002.  

The reverse acquisition reserve represents the difference 
at October 11, 2002 between the required share 
capital and premium of the Bank ($472,828) together 
with the retained earnings of the Barclays Branches 
and Subsidiaries ($1,001) and the equity of the Bank 
presented in accordance with IFRS ($408,261).
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15. Net Interest Income

2010
$

2009
$

Interest and similar income
Cash and short-term funds 951 2,962
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 3,342
Investment securities 35,224 40,502
Loans and advances to customers 156,815 170,212

192,990 217,018
Interest and similar expense
Banks and customers 51,342 65,764
Other borrowed funds 12,613 8,361

63,955 74,125

Net interest income 129,035 142,893

16. Other Operating Income

2010
$

2009
$

Fee and commission income 18,188 18,727
Foreign exchange commissions 9,878 10,195
Foreign exchange revaluation net gains/(losses) 574 (579)
Net trading losses (256) (9,433)
Net investment securities gains 4,847 4,493
Net hedging gains/(losses) 3,432 (3,567)
Other operating income 3,463 5,506

40,126 25,342

Net trading losses have arisen from either disposals and/or changes in the fair value, on both trading securities and 
derivatives held for trading.  

Net investment securities gains (losses) have arisen from disposals of investment securities held as available-for-sale investments. 
 
Net hedging losses have arisen from the difference between the changes in fair value of hedged items in respect of the 
hedged risk against changes in fair value of the associated hedging instruments.

Analysis of fee and commission income:
2010

 $
2009

$
Fee and commission income
Underwriting fees and commissions 317 192
Deposit services fees and commissions 5,906 6,479
Credit services fees and commissions 3,087 3,268
Card services fees and commissions 5,288 4,905
Funds transfer fees and commissions 3,222 3,452
Other fees and commissions 368 431

18,188 18,727
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17. Operating Expenses

2010
$

2009
$

Staff costs 37,822 39,116
Occupancy and maintenance 11,968 10,715
Depreciation (Note 9) 3,373 3,470
Business license and management fees 14,592 5,686
Other operating expenses 9,339 12,092

77,094 71,079

Analysis of staff costs:
2010

$
2009

$
Wages and salaries 29,281 30,542
Pension costs/(income):
    -defined benefit sections of the plan (Note 10) 2,992 2,340
    -defined contribution section of the plan 337 402
Post-retirement medical benefits charge (Note 10) 292 312
Share-based payments 228 271
Other staff related costs 4,692 5,249

37,822 39,116

Analysis of other operating expenses:
2010

$
2009

$
Professional fees 961 1,629
Advertising and marketing 139 106
Business development 437 424
Communications 1,888 2,051
(Gain)/loss on sale of property & equipment (4) 116
Other 5,918 7,766

9,339 12,092

18. Earnings per share

2010
$

2009
$

Net income attributable to shareholders 61,863 78,637

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (Note 14) 120,216 120,216

Basic earnings per share (expressed in cents per share) 51.5 65.4

The Bank has no dilutive securities.
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19. Dividends Paid

2010
$

  2009
$

Declared and paid during the year
First dividend $0.16 (2009: $0.20) 19,234 24,044
Final dividend $0.15 (2009: $0.15) 18,032 18,032
Total dividends declared and paid 37,266 42,076

At the Board of Directors meeting held on December 14, 2010, a final dividend of $0.15 per share amounting to 
$18,032 in respect of the 2010 net income was proposed and declared.  The consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended October 31, 2010 do not reflect this resolution, which will be accounted for in equity as a distribution of 
retained earnings in the year ending October 31, 2011.

20. Components of Other Comprehensive Income

2010
$

2009
$

Available-for-sale financial assets:
Net gains arising during the year 3,923 29,301
Less: reclassification adjustments for gains included  
in the statement of income (4,847) (4,493)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (924) 24,808

21. Employee Share Purchase Plan

Under our Employee Share Purchase Plan, qualifying employees can choose each year to have up to 10% of their eligible 
earnings withheld to purchase common shares in the Bank.  The Bank matches 50% of the employee contribution 
amount, up to a maximum contribution of 6% of eligible earnings, depending upon length of service and job level.  
The Bank contributions vest after employees have two years of continuous participation in the plan, and all subsequent 
contributions vest immediately. 

All contributions are paid into a trust and used by the plan trustees to purchase common shares in the open market.  
The Bank contributions are expensed as incurred and totalled $228 in 2010 (2009: $271).

22. Related Party Transactions and Balances

As discussed in Note 1, the Bank’s Parent and major shareholder is FirstCaribbean International Bank Limited who 
owns 95.2% of the Bank’s ordinary shares.  From October 11, 2002, FCIB’s major shareholders were jointly CIBC and 
Barclays.  On December 22, 2006, CIBC acquired Barclays’s interest in FCIB and now owns 91.4% of the shares of The 
Bank’s Parent (FCIB). The remaining shares are widely held.  
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A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. Outstanding 
balances at year-end and transactions during the year are as follows:

Directors and key
 management personnel

Major shareholder
and associated banks

Ultimate
Shareholders

2010
$

2009
$

2010
$

2009
$

2010
$

2009
$

Balances:
Due from banks - - 61,189 116,930 2,969 73,875
Loans and advances
   to customers 2,874 2,715 332,723 - - -
Other assets - - 21 11 - 570
Deposit liabilities 2,944 5,418 418,313 477,564 28,349 27,453
Other liabilities - - 12,441 3,457 38 102

Transactions:
Interest income earned 117 105 326 2,580 43 392
Interest expense incurred 148 258 8,056 15,380 1,312 852
Other income - - 5,790 - 6,524 16,247
Other expenses* - - 12,034 3,447 734 1,294

* Expenses incurred in relation to banking and support services.

2010
$

2009
$

Key management compensation

Salaries and short term benefits 2,309 2,715

Directors’ remuneration
In 2010, the total remuneration to the directors was $49 (2009: $40).

23. Commitments, Guarantees and Contingent Liabilities

The Bank conducts business that involves guarantees, performance bonds and indemnities, which are not reflected 
in the consolidated statement of financial position.  At the reporting date the following contingent liabilities and 
commitments existed:

2010
$

2009
$

Letters of credit 50,297 47,840
Undrawn loan commitments 175,604 198,476
Guarantees and indemnities 42,351 47,055

Total (Note 26) 268,252 293,371
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The Bank is the subject of legal actions arising in the normal course of business.  Management considers that the 
liability of these actions, if any, would not be material. (Also see Note 27).

On December 19, 2008, the Bank entered into a $250 million credit facility with CIBC for general corporate purposes 
and the Bank is expected to treat the facility as a back up liquidity facility. The original maturity date was 364 days 
from the closing date (December 19, 2008) with extension privileges for an additional 364 days. Advances would 
be available as LIBOR rate or Base Rate (Canada) advances. Interest rates are at LIBOR + 300bps (pricing grid to be 
develop based on external ratings) or US Base rate +200 bps (pricing grid to be develop based on external ratings). On 
December 19, 2009, the Bank exercised its option to extend the facility, and reduced its credit facility to $50 million. 
As of October 31, 2010, no advances were made from the facility, all balances are undrawn.

24. Future Rental Commitments under Operating Leases

As at October 31, 2010, the Bank held leases on buildings for extended periods.  The future rental commitments under 
these leases are as follows:

2010
$

2009
$

Not later than 1 year 2,540 2,912

Later than 1 year and not more than 5 years 5,607 4,693

Later than 5 years 3,526 126

11,673 7,731

25. Business Segments

Effective November 1, 2008, the Bank re-organized 
operations into two lines:  Retail & Wealth Management 
and Corporate Investment Banking that are supported 
by the functional operating units within Administration.

Retail and Wealth Management (“R&WM”)
This line of business provides a full range of financial 
products and services to individuals.  Clients can 
access our services and products through our network 
of branches in the Caribbean, as well as, use the 
convenience of Automated Banking Machines (“ABMs”), 
Telephone Banking and Cards (Issuing).  Our Wealth 
Management centers help individuals achieve their 
financial goals through an array of investment products, 
deposit accounts, loans, mortgages and other services.

For Personal Wealth Management clients and Domestic 
clients who meet the Wealth Management criteria, the 
Bank offers traditional day-to-day banking services, 
investment advice, and a relationship management 

offering of being pro-active on client needs.  The 
International Mortgage group provides funding in U.S. 
dollars, and other ‘hard currencies’ typically to non-
residents of The Bahamas seeking to purchase homes for 
personal/investment use.

Corporate Investment Banking (“CIB”) 
This line of business comprises two sub-segments: 
Corporate Banking and Investment Banking. 

Corporate Banking provides a full range of corporate and 
commercial banking services, including Cards Merchant 
Acquiring business, to large and mid-size corporations 
and small businesses, governments, financial institutions, 
international trading companies and private wealth 
vehicles throughout the Caribbean. The Corporate 
International Wealth unit specializes in providing banking 
services to businesses and professional intermediaries who 
use international financial centers. 
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Investment Banking provides debt and equity capital 
markets and corporate finance products and services to 
large corporations, financial institutions and governments. 

Administration (“Admin”) 
The Administration segment includes Finance, HR, Risk, 
Technology & Operations, Treasury Sales & Trading and  
other units which support the Bank’s lines of business.  
The revenues and expenses of the functional groups 
are generally allocated to the business segments. The 
administration unit retains earnings on excess capital 
and the offset to capital charges allocated to the business 
segments. 

Treasury Sales & Trading (TST) manages the interest 
rate, foreign exchange and liquidity risks of the Bank.  
In addition, TST conducts foreign exchange and other 
derivative transactions on behalf of the Bank’s clients.  
Securities and cash placements are normally held within 
the TST unit within the Administration segment.

Management monitors the operating results of its 
business units separately for the purpose of making 

decisions about resource allocation and performance 
assessment.  Segment performance is evaluated based 
on net income, which for the total of all segments 
is equal to the consolidated financial statements.  
However, at the segment level, this measure of profit 
includes a notional charge for the segment’s use 
of capital which is fully offset by a credit within the 
Administration segment.  

Transactions between the business segments are on 
normal commercial terms and conditions.

Funds are ordinarily allocated between segments, 
resulting in funding costs transfers.  Interest charged for 
these funds is based on the Bank’s funds transfer pricing.  

Segment assets and liabilities comprise operating assets 
and liabilities, being the majority of the consolidated 
statement of financial position, but exclude items such 
as intangible assets.

Internal charges and transfer pricing adjustments are 
reflected in the performance of each business.  

R&WM CIB Admin Total
$ $ $ $

October 31, 2010

External revenues 111,664 75,388 46,064 233,116
Revenues from other segments (10,027) 32,337 (22,310) -

Total revenues 101,637 107,725 23,754 233,116

Net income for the year 9,860 27,600 24,403 61,863

Segment results include the following items of income or expense:

R&WM CIB Admin Total
$ $ $ $

Interest income 70,669 74,553 47,768 192,990
Interest expense 21,632 21,202 21,121 63,955
Loan loss impairment 11,435 18,769 - 30,204
Net hedging gain - - 3,432 3,432
Depreciation 1,279 27 2,067 3,373
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Total assets and liabilities by segments are as follows:

R&WM CIB Admin Total
$ $ $ $

Segment assets 1,306,072 1,259,018 846,159 3,411,249
Unallocated assets - - - 187,747

Total assets 1,306,072 1,259,018 846,159 3,598,996

Segment liabilities 1,115,392 1,326,437 426,313 2,868,142

Total liabilities 1,115,392 1,326,437 426,313 2,868,142

R&WM CIB Admin Total
$ $ $ $

October 31, 2009

External revenues 113,321 88,161 40,878 242,360
Revenues from other segments (9,917) 23,344 (13,427) -

Total revenues 103,404 111,505 27,451 242,360

Net income for the  year 24,578 48,112 5,947 78,637

Segment results include the following items of income or expense:

R&WM CIB Admin Total
$ $ $ $

Interest income 73,894 79,114 64,010 217,018

Interest expense 28,095 21,119 24,911 74,125

Loan loss impairment 2 18,517 - 18,519

Net hedging loss - - (3,692) (3,692)
Depreciation 1,346 37 2,090 3,473

Total assets and liabilities by segments are as follows:

R&WM CIB Admin Total
$ $ $ $

Segment assets 1,312,874 1,356,513 905,538 3,574,925
Unallocated assets - - - 187,747

Total assets 1,312,874 1,356,513 905,538 3,762,672

Segment liabilities 1,178,767 1,406,345 470,379 3,055,491

Total liabilities 1,178,767 1,406,345 470,379 3,055,491
 
Geographical segments are set out in Note 26 (C).
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26. Financial Risk Management

A. Introduction

Risk is inherent in the Bank’s activities but is managed 
through a process of ongoing identification, 
measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits 
and other controls. This process of risk management is 
critical to the Bank’s continuing profitability and each 
individual within the Bank is accountable for the risk 
exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. The Bank 
is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, 
the latter being subdivided into trading and non-trading 
risks. It is also subject to various operating risks.

By its nature the Bank’s activities are principally related 
to the use of financial instruments.  The Bank accepts 
deposits from customers at both fixed and floating rates 
and for various periods and seeks to earn above average 
interest margins by investing these funds in high quality 
assets.  The Bank seeks to increase these margins by 
consolidating short-term funds and lending for longer 
periods at higher rates whilst maintaining sufficient 
liquidity to meet all claims that might fall due.

The Bank also seeks to raise its interest margins by 
obtaining above average margins, net of provisions, 
through lending to commercial and retail borrowers with 
a range of credit standing.  Such exposures involve not 
just on-balance sheet loans and advances but the Bank 
also enters into guarantees and other commitments such 
as letters of credit and performance and other bonds.

B. Credit risk

Credit risk primarily arises from direct lending activities, 
as well as from trading, investment and hedging 
activities. Credit risk is defined as the risk of financial loss 
due to a borrower or counterparty failing to meet its 
obligations in accordance with agreed terms.

Process and control
The Credit Risk Management Department (“CRMD”) is 
responsible for the provision of the Bank’s adjudication, 
oversight and management of credit risk within its portfolios. 

The Credit Executive Committee (CrExCo) of CRMD has 
responsibility for monitoring credit metrics, providing 

direction on credit issues and making recommendations 
on credit policy.

CRMD is guided by the Bank’s Delegation Authority 
policy which is based on the levels of exposure and risk.  
Credits above the discretion delegated to the front line 
business are approved by CRMD and above this level 
by Credit Committee and the Risk & Conduct Review 
Committee of the Board (R&CRC). The R&CRC also has 
the responsibility for setting policy and key risk limits 
including portfolio limits which are reviewed annually. 

Credit risk limits
Credit limits are established for all loans (mortgages, 
personal and business & government) for the purposes 
of diversification and managing concentration.  These 
include limits for individual borrowers, groups of related 
borrowers, industry sectors, country and geographic 
regions and products or portfolios. The Bank does not 
have excessive concentration in any single borrower, or 
related group of borrowers, industry sector or country.

Collateral
The Bank employs a range of policies and practices 
to mitigate credit risk.  The most traditional of these 
is the taking of security for funds advanced, which is 
common practice. The Bank implements guidelines on 
the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit 
risk mitigation.  The principal collateral types for loans 
and advances to customers are:

•  Mortgages over residential properties;
• Charges over business assets such as premises, 

inventory and accounts receivable;
• Charges over financial instruments such as debt 

securities and equities.

The Bank’s credit risk management policies include 
requirements relating to collateral valuation and 
management, including verification requirements and 
legal certainty. 

Valuations are updated periodically depending upon 
the nature of the collateral. Management monitors the 
market value of collateral, requests additional collateral 
in accordance with the underlying agreement during its 
periodic review of loan accounts in arrears. Policies are in 
place to monitor the existence of undesirable concentration 
in the collateral supporting the Bank’s credit exposure.
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Geographic distribution
The following table provides a distribution of gross drawn and undrawn loans and advances to customers which 
therefore exclude provisions for impairment, interest receivable and unearned fee income.

 

Drawn
$

Undrawn
$

Gross Maximum
Exposure 2010

$
Drawn

$
Undrawn

$

Gross Maximum
Exposure 2009

$
Bahamas 2,111,278 149,565 2,260,843 2,258,967 161,678 2,420,645
Turks & Caicos 396,724 26,039 422,763 366,633 36,798 403,431

2,508,002 175,604 2,683,606 2,625,600 198,476 2,824,076

Exposures by industry groups
The following table provides an industry-wide breakdown of gross drawn and undrawn loans and advances to customers, 
which therefore excludes provisions for impairments, interest receivables and unearned fee income. 

Drawn
$

Undrawn
$

Gross Maximum
Exposure 2010

$
Drawn

$
Undrawn

$

Gross Maximum
Exposure 2009

$
Agriculture 22,338 48 22,386 16,889 2,103 18,992
Governments 305,545 5,109 310,654 295,025 2,588 297,613
Construction 207,975 11,547 219,522 212,323 14,361 226,684
Distribution 83,181 24,575 107,756 115,897 25,278 141,175
Fishing 42,436 3,868 46,304 46,087 4,628 50,715
Health & social work 24,147 - 24,147 17,120 7,951 25,071
Hotels & restaurants 229,648 4,296 233,944 283,515 7,808 291,323
Individuals &
   individual trusts 1,039,638 96,662 1,136,300 1,042,419 94,532 1,136,951
Manufacturing 22,138 5,323 27,461 28,957 9,773 38,730
Mining & quarrying 166 6 172 188 - 188
Miscellaneous 246,875 13,116 259,991 262,681 15,163 277,844
Other financial  
corporations 12,500 2,484 14,984 12,541 1,916 14,457
Real estate, renting
   & other business
   activities 260,298 8,199 268,497 280,617 11,352 291,969
Transport, storage &
   communication 11,117 371 11,488 11,341 1,023 12,364

2,508,002 175,604 2,683,606 2,625,600 198,476 2,824,076

 



58

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Impaired financial assets and provision for credit losses
The Bank takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the 
risk that a counter party will be unable to pay amounts 
in full when due.  The Bank structures the levels of credit 
risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk 
accepted in relation to one counter party, borrower, or 
groups of borrowers, and to geographical and industry 
segments.  Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis 
and subject to an annual or more frequent review.

The exposure to any single counterparty, including banks 
and brokers, is further restricted by sub-limits which include 
exposures not recognized in the consolidated statement of 
financial position and daily delivery risk limits in relation to 
trading items such as forward foreign exchange contracts.  
Actual exposures against limits are monitored daily.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular 
analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential 
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment 
obligations and by changing these lending limits where 
appropriate.  Exposure to credit risk is also managed in 
part by obtaining collateral, including corporate and 
personal guarantees.

Derivatives
The Bank maintains strict control limits on net open 
derivative positions, that is, the difference between 
purchase and sale contracts, by both amount and term.  
At any one time the amount subject to credit risk is limited 
to the current fair value of instruments that are favorable 
to the Bank (i.e. assets), which in relation to derivatives 
is only a small fraction of the contract or notional values 
used to express the volume of instruments outstanding.  
This credit risk exposure is managed as part of the overall 
lending limits with customers, together with potential 
exposures from market movements.  Collateral or other 
security is not usually obtained for credit risk exposures 
on these instruments, except where the Bank requires 
margin deposits from counterparties.

Master netting arrangements
The Bank further restricts its exposure to credit losses 
by entering into master netting arrangements with 
counterparties with which it undertakes a significant 
volume of transactions.  Master netting arrangements do 
not generally result in an offset of consolidated statement 
of financial position assets and liabilities as transactions 
are usually settled on a gross basis.  However, the credit 
risk associated with favorable contracts is reduced by a 
master netting arrangement to the extent that if an event 
of default occurs, all amounts with the counterparty 

are terminated and settled on a net basis.  The Bank’s 
overall exposure to credit risk on derivative instruments 
subject to master netting arrangements can change 
substantially within a short period since it is affected by 
each transaction subject to the arrangement.

Credit related commitments
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure 
that funds are available to a customer as required.  
Guarantees and standby letters of credit, which 
represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make 
payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its 
obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as 
loans.  Documentary and commercial letters of credit, 
which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of 
a customer authorizing a third party to draw drafts on 
the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms 
and conditions, are collateralized by the underlying 
shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore 
carry less risk than a direct borrowing.

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions 
of authorizations to extend credit in the form of loans, 
guarantees or letters of credit.  With respect to credit risk 
on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is potentially 
exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused 
commitments.  However, the likely amount of loss is less than 
the total unused commitments since most commitments to 
extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining 
specific credit standards.  The Bank monitors the term 
of maturity of credit commitments because longer-term 
commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk 
than shorter-term commitments.

Maximum exposure to credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk would be all 
consolidated statement of financial position carrying 
values of all financial assets plus the off-balance sheet 
contingent liabilities and commitments (Note 23). The 
gross maximum exposure would be before allowance for 
credit losses and the effect of mitigation through the use 
of master netting and collateral arrangements. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk within the 
customer loan portfolio would be all the consolidated 
statement of financial position carrying values plus the 
off-balance sheet loan commitment amounts (Note 23).  
The gross maximum exposure within the customer loan 
portfolio would be before allowance for credit losses and 
the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting 
and collateral arrangements, plus the off-balance sheet 
loan commitments amount.
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C. Geographical concentration of assets, liabilities and commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities

The following note incorporates IAS 32 credit risk disclosures, IAS 30 geographical concentrations of assets, liabilities 
and commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities disclosures and a public enterprise’s IAS 14 secondary 
segment disclosures.

Total
assets

$

Total
liabilities

$

Commitments, 
guarantees and 

contingent 
liabilities

$

Capital
expenditure

$

External 
revenues

$

Non-
current 

assets
$

October 31, 2010

Bahamas 3,079,983 2,413,459 238,428 2,353 207,308 2,951,343
Turks & Caicos Islands 519,013 454,683 29,824 357 25,808 390,743

3,598,996 2,868,142 268,252 2,710 233,116 3,342,086

Total
assets

$

Total
liabilities

$

Commitments,  
guarantees 

and contingent 
liabilities

$

Capital
expenditure

$

External 
revenues

$

Non-
current 

assets
$

October 31, 2009

Bahamas 3,234,848 2,593,712 252,721 2,309 210,475 2,984,635
Turks & Caicos Islands 527,824 461,779 40,650 1,445 31,885 364,167

3,762,672 3,055,491 293,371 3,754 242,360 3,348,802

The Bank is managed based on the two lines of business, and it operates in two main geographical areas.  The Bank’s 
exposure to credit risk is concentrated in these areas.

Capital expenditure is shown by geographical area in which the property and equipment are located.

Geographic sector risk concentrations within the customer loan portfolio were as follows: 

2010
$

2010
%

2009
$

2009
%

Bahamas 2,035,196 84 2,185,373 86
Turks & Caicos Islands 383,640 16 356,383 14

2,418,836 100 2,541,756 100
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D. Credit rating system and credit quality per class of financial assets

Credit quality
A mapping between the Bank’s internal ratings and the ratings used by external agencies is shown in the table below.  
As part of the Bank’s risk-rating methodology, the risk assessed includes a review of external ratings of the obligor.  The 
obligor rating assessment takes into consideration the Bank’s financial assessment of the obligor, the industry, and the 
economic environment of the country in which the obligor operates.  In certain circumstances, where a guarantee from 
a third party exists, both the obligor and the guarantor will be assessed.

Quality per FCIB Standard & Poor’s equivalent Moody’s Investor Services
High grade AAA to BBB- Aaa to Baa3
Standard BB+ to B- Ba to B3
Substandard CCC+ to CC Caa1 to Ca
Impaired D C

A credit scoring methodology is used to assess personal customers and a grading model is used for corporate clients.  
As well, an ageing analysis of the portfolio assists in the development of a consistent internal-risk rating system.  This 
risk rating system is used for portfolio management, risk limit setting, product pricing, and in the determination of 
economic capital.

The effectiveness of the risk rating system and the parameters associated with the risk ratings are monitored within 
Credit Risk Management and are subject to an annual review.

The credit quality of financial assets is managed using internal credit ratings.

Investment securities held at 31 October 2010 are classified as standard or high grade.

The table below shows the credit quality by class of asset for gross loans and advances to customers, based on an 
ageing analysis of the portfolio, a key measure of credit quality as described above. Amounts provided are before 
allowance for credit losses, and after credit risk mitigation, valuation adjustments related to the financial guarantors, 
and collateral on agreements.

Performing

Grade description High Grade
$

Standard
Grade

$

Sub-
Standard

Grade
$

Impaired
$

2010
Total
     $

 Loans and advances
      to customers

 -Mortgages 948,022 15,469 23,186 167,834 1,154,511
 -Personal loans 225,341 2,236 2,689 45,453 275,719
 -Business and government loans 903,290 2,442 2,812 169,228 1,077,772

 Total (Note 8) 2,076,653 20,147 28,687 382,515 2,508,002
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Performing

Grade description High Grade
$

Standard
Grade

$

Sub-
Standard

Grade
$

Impaired
$

2009
Total
     $

Loans and advances
     to customers

-Mortgages 932,433 48,751 50,353 142,165 1,173,702
-Personal loans 240,593 5,945 7,257 47,770 301,565
-Business and government loans 915,781 25,974 73,493 135,085 1,150,333

Total (Note 8) 2,088,807 80,670 131,103 325,020 2,625,600

E. Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to 
changes in market variables.  Market risk arises from 
positions in securities and derivatives as well as from 
the core retail, wealth and corporate businesses. The 
key risks to the Parent Group are interest rate, foreign 
exchange, and credit spread. Market risk within the Bank 
is therefore centralized which mirrors the way that the 
hard currencies are managed by Treasury Sales & Trading 
and although the local currency exposures are managed 
in their respective geographic regions, these exposures 
are still monitored, measured and controlled centrally 
from a market risk perspective. The Bank classifies market 
risk exposures into trading and non-trading, with all of 
the former represented by products traded and managed 
by an external global investment manager.

Policies and standards:
The Parent Group has a comprehensive policy for 
market risk management related to its identification 
and to the measurement, monitoring and control 
of those risks.  This policy is reviewed and approved 
annually by the Risk and Conduct Review Committee. 
The policy includes the annual approval of the Board’s 
limits which are used by the Parent Group to establish 
explicit risk tolerances expressed in term of the four main 
risk measures mentioned below.  There is a three tiered 
approach to limits at the Parent Group. The highest 
limits are those set at the Board level, and the second 
level which includes a “haircut” from the Board limits are 
the Chief Risk Officer limits. The third level of limit is for 
the Treasury Sales & Trading Group, which limits traders 
to specific size of deal, documented through a formal 
delegation letter and, monitored through the Bank’s 
treasury system.

Process and control:
Market risk measures are monitored with differing 
degrees of frequency dependent upon the relative risk 
and speed with which the risk changes. FX positions, 
Value at risk (VaR) and certain P&L measures are all 
measured daily whereas others, such as stress tests and 
credit spread sensitivity are performed on either a weekly 
or monthly basis.  Detailed market risk compliance reports 
are produced and circulated to senior management 
on a monthly basis and a summary version is reported 
quarterly to the Parent Group Board.

Risk measurement:
The Bank has four main measures of market risk, which 
as noted above are calculated and managed at the 
Parent Group level and not by individual subsidiary or 
subsidiary grouping. These are:

• Outright position, used predominantly for FX,
• Sensitivity to a 1 basis point move in a curve, used 

for both interest rate and credit spread risk,
• value at Risk (vaR) measures for both interest rate 

risk and for non-pegged currencies, and
• Stress scenarios based upon a combination of 

theoretical situations and historical events.

Position:
This risk measurement is used predominantly for the 
Parent Group’s foreign exchange business.  The measure 
produced and reported daily focuses upon the outright 
long or short position in each currency from both a 
pre-structural and post-structural basis.  Any forward 
contracts or FX swaps are also incorporated.
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Sensitivity:
The two main measures utilized by the Parent Group are 
the DV01 (Delta Value of a one basis point move, also 
known as the PV01 or Present Value of a one basis point 
move) and the CSDV01 (Credit Spread Delta of a one 
basis point move).  The DV01 measure is calculated for 
a one basis point move down in the yield curve.  This 
generates the effect on earnings by individual currency 
of a parallel shift down in the related yield curve.  As yield 
curves rarely move in a parallel fashion, it is measured 
across different tenors to ensure that there is no further 
curve risk of having for example a long position in the 
short end of the curve offset by a short position in the 
longer tenors. This is then utilized within the scenario 
analysis. The sensitivities are calculated using two 
different approaches a pre-structural basis that focuses 
upon predominantly contractual date positions and also 
a post-structural basis that considers core balances for 
non contractual maturities as well as assigning risk to 
capital and non-product general ledger accounts as well 
as considering market specific pricing situations such as 
exist in the Bahamas. 

The CSDV01 sensitivity looks at the risk of the spreads 
between the USD denominated, locally issued bond 
portfolio and the benchmark USD interest rate curve 
widening or narrowing  as well as to look at the effect 
of that same type of credit spread move impacting the 
value of the USD structural hedge positions.

Value at risk:
The Parent Group’s value at Risk (“vaR”) methodology 
utilizes the tested and validated CIBC parent models.  It 
is a statistical and probability based approach that uses 
volatilities and correlations to quantify risk into dollar 
terms. VaR measures the potential loss from the adverse 
market movements that can occur overnight with a 
less than one percent probability of occurring under 
normal market conditions, based on equally weighted 
historical data. VaR uses numerous risk factors as inputs 
and is computed through the use of historical volatility 
of each risk factor and the associated correlations among 
them, evaluated over a one year period and updated on 
a regular basis.  The use of these historical measures do 
cause a degree of limitation to its accuracy as it assumes 
that future price movements will follow a statistical 
distribution and thus may not clearly predict the future 
impact.  The fact that VaR is an end of day measure and 
thus does not take into account intra-day moves is not 
a significant issue for the Parent Group as neither the 
trading nor non-trading portfolios are that active and 

the FX is controlled via trade and volume size limits.  A 
further weakness of the VaR measure is that it does not 
estimate the effects of market variable moves outside 
of the ninety-nine percent parameter and hence may 
underestimate losses.  To counter this, the Parent Group 
has various stress measures to calculate potential tail 
event losses.

Stress testing & scenario analysis:
Stress testing and scenario analysis are designed to 
add insight to possible outcomes of abnormal (or tail 
event) market conditions and to highlight where risk 
concentrations could be a concern.

The Parent Group has two distinct approaches to 
this.  For the hard currency testing it sends its position 
sensitivity to CIBC and utilizes the suite of measures that 
CIBC has developed.  The stress testing measures the 
effect on our hard currency portfolio values over a wide 
range of extreme moves in market prices.  The stress 
testing methodology assumes no actions are taken or 
are able to be taken during the event to mitigate the 
risk, reflecting the decreased liquidity that frequently 
accompanies market shocks.  The scenario analysis 
approach again for the Parent Group’s hard currency 
exposures simulate an impact on earnings of extreme 
market events up to a period of one quarter.  

Scenarios are developed using actual historical data 
during periods of market disruption, or are based 
upon hypothetical occurrence of economic or political 
events or natural disasters and are designed by CIBC’s 
economists, business leaders and risk managers.  

The local currency stress tests are designed on a similar 
but smaller scale.  For interest rate stresses, Market Risk 
in conjunction with Treasury Sales & Trading consider 
the market data over approximately the last ten years 
and identify the greatest curve or data point moves 
over both sixty day and single day periods. These are 
then applied to the existing positions/sensitivities of 
the Parent Group.  This is performed and reported 
on a monthly basis as they do not tend to change 
rapidly. For foreign exchange stresses the Parent Group 
considers what the effect of a currency coming off a 
peg would have on the earnings of the Bank.  This is 
largely judgmental as it has happened so infrequently 
in the region and it is supplemented by some historical 
reviews both within the region and in other areas where 
pegged currency regimes have or do exist.
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Interest rate risk:
Interest rate risk in the trading book arises from the 
changes in interest rate affecting the future cash flows of 
the financial instruments in the outsourced investment 
portfolio.  The investment manager hedges most of this 
risk as the particular strategy they follow is a relative 
value approach as opposed to an outright interest rate 
call.  Non-trading interest rate risk consists primarily of 
a combination of the risks inherent in asset and liability 
management activities and the activities of the core 
retail, wealth and corporate businesses.  Interest rate risk 
results from differences in the maturities or re-pricing 
dates of assets inclusive of those assets not recognized in 
the consolidated statement of financial position. 

As noted above, interest rate risk is measured, managed 
and monitored centrally from a Parent Group perspective 
and the results and analysis is disclosed in the Parent 
Group’s financial statements. Notwithstanding this fact, 
interest rate risk analysis was prepared for the Bank, 
based on what was disclosed at the Parent Group level. 
As the Parent Group’s functional and presentational 
currency is in USD, the following analysis is done in USD 
terms and the foreign exposure and risk would be to 
currencies other than USD.

The following table shows the potential impact of an immediate one hundred basis point increase or decrease in 
interest rates over the next twelve months in USD equivalent.

Interest rate risk 
2010

$
2009

$
100bp increase in interest rates
 Impact on net interest income (1,800) (2,000)
 Impact on other comprehensive income (6,500) (6,600)

100bp decrease in interest rates
 Impact on net interest income 1,800 2,000
 Impact on other comprehensive income 6,500 6,600

The Parent Group Board approved a post structural interest rate assumption approach as at September 30, 2008 and as 
a result, measurement, limit monitoring and control were transferred to this approach.  This is shown in the following 
table in USD equivalent.

2010 2009

Currency

Post
Structural

DV01
Contractual

DV01  VaR

60 day
Stressed

Loss

Post
Structural

DV01
Contractual

DV01 VaR

60 day
Stressed

Loss
$ $  $ $ $ $ $ $

Bahamas
Dollars 65.5 (12.2) 70 2,175 65.7 (14.5) 118 1,953
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Credit spread risk:
Credit spread exists as the benchmark curve and the reference asset curves either converge or diverge. The Bank has 
2 portfolios that have a material amount of credit spread risk. The risk is measured using an estimated CSDV01 and 
stress scenarios.  In the past this credit spread risk was measured only at the Group level but as an ongoing reporting 
enhancement for 2010, this is now available for the Bank. The results of these are reported monthly to senior management.

Notional CSDV01 (*) Stressed Loss (*)
 $ $ $

Local issued hard currency denominated bond portfolio 273,313 218.3 51,780

Structural interest rate hedge portfolio (bank paper) 34,800 14.0 3,428

* For the locally issued debt, based upon over 85% of the portfolio by notional.

Derivatives held for asset and liability management 
(ALM) purposes:
Where derivatives are held as hedges against either 
sizeable loans from core businesses or to reduce interest 
risk exposure to USD denominated local bond issues and 
the transactions meet the accounting criteria then the 
Bank applies hedge accounting. Derivative hedges that 
do not qualify for hedge accounting are considered to 
be economic hedges and are recorded at fair value on 
the consolidated statement of financial position with 
changes in the fair value recognized through profit or 
loss.  It should be noted that these are only interest rate 
risk hedges and other risks such as credit spread on the 
underlying still exist and are measured separately.

Foreign exchange risk: 
Foreign exchange (or currency) risk is defined as the risk 
that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a 
result of changes in foreign exchange rates.  A significant 
number of the regional currencies are pegged to the USD 
and the VaR measure is not appropriate.  More emphasis 

is therefore placed on the overall position limit and 
related stress tests.  The Board has set limits on positions 
by currency.  Positions are monitored on a daily basis 
and Treasury Sales & Trading are solely responsible for 
the hedging of the exposure of the Bank.

As noted above, foreign exchange risk is measured, 
managed and monitored centrally from a Parent Group 
perspective and the results and analysis is disclosed in the 
Parent Group’s financial statements.  Notwithstanding 
this fact, foreign exchange risk analysis was prepared 
for the Bank based on what was disclosed at the 
Parent Group level. As Parent Group’s functional and 
presentational currency is in USD, the following analyzes 
are all done in USD terms and the foreign exposure and 
risk would be related to currencies other than USD.

The following table highlights the currencies that the 
Bank had significant exposures to at each year end in 
USD equivalent.  

2010 2009

Currency

Position 
Long/

(Short)
Stressed

Loss
Average
Position

Position Long/
(Short)

Stressed
Loss

Average
Position

$ $ $ $ $ $

Bahamian dollars 1,621 486 (261) (3,540) 283 829
Barbados dollars 170 51 103 49 15 68
Canadian dollars 99 10 100 (1) - 8
Euro dollars 63 6 83 (88) 9 452
Great Britain pounds (62) 6 38 (264) 26 (2,059)
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During 2008, the Parent Group introduced a measure to quantify non-trading foreign exchange risk, also referred to as 
post-structural foreign exchange risk.  This considers the effect of currency change on the Bank’s investment in foreign 
operations, retained earnings and profit derived throughout the year in currencies other than the Parent Group’s 
presentation currency of USD.

The Bank takes on exposure to effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial 
position and cash flows.  The Board sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total for both overnight and 
intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.  The table below summarizes the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency 
exchange rate risk at October 31.  The off-balance sheet net notional position represents the difference between the 
notional amounts of foreign currency derivative financial instruments, which are principally used to reduce the Bank’s 
exposure to currency movements, and their fair values.

Concentrations of assets, liabilities and commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities:

October 31, 2010 BAH US Other Total
$ $ $ $

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank 76,702 12,178 313 89,193
Due from banks 10,305 96,345 42,276 148,926
Other assets 14,931 3,715 145 18,791
Investment securities 253,177 292,303 141,982 687,462
Loans and advances to customers 1,320,982 1,095,557 2,297 2,418,836
Property and equipment 19,509 5,770 67 25,346
Retirement benefit assets 8,773 1,307 (41) 10,039
Goodwill 186,582 1,165 - 187,747
Derivative financial instruments - 12,639 17 12,656

Total assets 1,890,961 1,520,979 187,056 3,598,996

Liabilities
Customer deposits 1,242,262 1,222,930 302,167 2,767,359
Derivative financial instruments - 71,010 4,966 75,976
Other liabilities (13,752) 33,918 168 20,334
Retirement benefit obligations 4,296 177 - 4,473

Total liabilities 1,232,806 1,328,035 307,301 2,868,142

Net assets/(liabilities) 658,155 192,944 (120,245) 730,854

Commitments, guarantees and contingent  
liabilities (Note 23) 98,679 168,108 1,465 268,252

October 31, 2009 BAH US Other Total
$ $ $ $

Total assets 1,869,823 1,693,679 199,170 3,762,672
Total liabilities 1,261,162 1,519,595 274,734 3,055,491

Net assets/(liabilities) 608,661 174,084 (75,564) 707,181

Commitments, guarantees and contingent 
liabilities (Note 23) 112,927 177,474 2,970 293,371
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F. Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.  Fair value interest rate 
risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  
The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations 
in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both 
its fair value and cash flow risks.  Interest margins may 
increase as a result of such changes but may reduce or 
create losses in the event that unexpected movements 
arise.  Limits are set on the level of mismatch of interest 
rate repricing that may be undertaken, which are 
monitored on an ongoing basis.

Expected repricing and maturity dates do not differ 
significantly from the contract dates, except for the 
maturity of deposits up to 1 month, which represent 
balances on current accounts considered by the Bank as 
a relatively stable core source of funding of its operations.

G. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the Bank’s general funding 
activities in the course of managing assets and liabilities.  
It is the risk of having insufficient cash resources to meet 
current financial obligations without raising funds at 
unfavorable rates or selling assets on a forced basis.

The Bank’s liquidity management strategies seek to 
maintain sufficient liquid financial resources to continually 
fund the consolidated statement of financial position 
under both normal and stressed market environments.

Process and control:
Actual and anticipated inflows and outflows of funds 
generated from exposures including those not recognized 
in the consolidated statement of financial position are 
managed on a daily basis within specific short-term asset/
liability mismatch limits by operational entity. 

Potential cash flows under various stress scenarios are 
modelled using carrying amounts recognized in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. On a 
consolidated basis, prescribed liquidity levels under a 
selected benchmark stress scenario are maintained for a 
minimum time horizon.

Risk management:
The Bank’s liquidity measurement system provides 
daily liquidity risk exposure reports for monitoring and 
review by the Treasury department.  The Bank’s Assets 
and Liabilities Committee (“ALCO”) is responsible for 
recommending the liquidity ratio targets, the stress 
scenarios and the contingency funding plans.  The Bank’s 
Board is ultimately responsible for the Bank’s liquidity.

The Bank manages liquidity risk by maintaining a 
significant base of core customer deposits, liquid 
assets and access to contingent funding as part of its 
management of risk.  The Bank has internally established 
specific liquidity requirements that are approved by 
ALCO and reviewed annually.

The table below analyzes the assets, liabilities and 
commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities of the 
Bank into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at reporting date to the contractual maturity date.

Maturities of assets and liabilities:

October 31, 2010
0-3

months
3-12

 months
1-5

years
Over 5

years Total
$ $ $ $ $

Assets

Cash and balances with Central Bank 89,193 - - - 89,193
Due from banks 148,421 505 - - 148,926
Other assets 18,791 - - - 18,791
Investment securities 83,566 49,766 211,272 342,858 687,462
Loans and advances to customers 233,888 66,081 492,813 1,626,054 2,418,836
Property and equipment - - 2 25,344 25,346
Retirement benefit assets - - - 10,039 10,039
Goodwill - - - 187,747 187,747
Derivative financial instruments 12,656 - - - 12,656

Total assets 586,515 116,352 704,087 2,192,042 3,598,996
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October 31, 2010
0-3

months
3-12

 months
1-5

years
Over 5

years Total
$ $ $ $ $

Liabilities

Customer deposits 2,072,672 652,931 1,119 40,637 2,767,359
Derivative financial instruments 75,976 - - - 75,976
Other liabilities 20,334 - - - 20,334
Retirement benefit obligations - - - 4,473 4,473

Total liabilities 2,168,982 652,931 1,119 45,110 2,868,142

Net assets/(liabilities) (1,582,467) (536,579) 702,968 2,146,932 730,854

Commitments, guarantees and contingent 
liabilities 252,334 15,761 157 - 268,252

October 31, 2009
0-3

months
3-12

months
1-5

years
Over 5

years Total
$ $ $ $ $

Total assets 666,646 158,986 751,564 2,185,476 3,762,672
Total liabilities 2,045,824 982,479 22,969 4,219 3,055,491

Net assets / (liabilities) (1,379,178) (823,493) 728,595 2,181,257 707,181

Commitments, guarantees and contingent 
liabilities 277,377 7,639 8,355 - 293,371

The matching and controlled mismatching of the 
maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is 
fundamental to the management of the Bank.  It is unusual 
for banks ever to be completely matched since business 
transacted is often of uncertain term and different types.  
An unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, 
but also increases the risk of losses.

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to 
replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities 
as they mature, are important factors in assessing the 
liquidity of the Bank and its exposure to changes in 
interest rates and exchange rates.

Liquidity requirements to support calls under guarantees 
and standby letters of credit are considerably less than 
the amount of the commitment because the Bank does 
not generally expect the third party to draw funds 
under the agreement. The total outstanding contractual 
amount of commitments to extend credit does not 

necessarily represent future cash requirements, since 
many of these commitments will expire or terminate 
without being funded.

H. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Determination of fair value and the fair value hierarchy
The Bank uses the following hierarchy for determining 
and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 
valuation technique:
• Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active 

markets for identical assets or liabilities.
• Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which 

have a significant effect on the recorded fair value 
are observable, either directly or indirectly.

• Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a 
significant effect on the recorded fair value that are 
not based on observable market data.

All of the Bank’s financial instruments and investments 
are at Level 2.
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Financial instruments recorded at fair value 
The following is a description of the determination of fair 
value for financial instruments which are recorded at fair 
value using valuation techniques.  These incorporate the 
Bank’s estimate of assumptions that a market participant 
would make when valuing the instruments:

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative products valued using a valuation technique 
with market observable inputs are interest rate swaps and 
foreign exchange forward contracts. The most frequently 
applied valuation techniques include forward pricing 
and swap models, using present value calculations. The 
models incorporate various inputs including the credit 
quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and 
forward rates and interest rate curves.

Available-for-sale investment securities
Available-for-sale investment securities valued using 
a valuation technique or pricing models primarily 
consist of debt securities.

These assets are valued using models which sometimes 
only incorporate data observable in the market and at 
other times use both observable and non-observable 
data. The non-observable inputs to the models include 
assumptions about liquidity and price disclosure, 
counterparty credit spreads and sector specific risks.

Fair value of financial instruments not carried at fair value

The following describes the methodologies and 
assumptions used to determine fair values for those 

financial instruments which are not already recorded at 
fair value in the consolidated financial statements:

Loans and advances to customers 
Loans and advances to customers are stated net of 
specific and other provisions for impairment. The 
estimated fair value of loans and advances represents 
the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows 
expected to be received.  

Customer deposits 
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, 
which includes non-interest-bearing deposits, is the amount 
repayable on demand. The estimated fair value of fixed 
interest bearing deposits and other borrowings without 
quoted market price is based on discounted cash flows using 
interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity.

Financial assets and liabilities with carrying values 
that approximate fair value
For financial assets and liabilities that are liquid or have 
a short-term maturity, it is assumed that the carrying 
amounts approximate to their fair values. This assumption is 
also applied to demand deposits, savings accounts without 
a specific maturity and variable rate financial instruments.

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts 
and fair values of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities 
not presented on the consolidated statement of financial 
position at fair value.  The table does not include the fair 
values of non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities, 
nor does it include financial instruments carried at fair 
value disclosed above.

Carrying 
Value Fair Value

Unrecognized 
gain/(loss)

Carrying 
Value Fair Value

Unrecognized 
gain/(loss)

2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009
$ $ $ $ $ $

Financial assets
Cash and balances with  

Central Bank 89,193 89,193 - 102,273 102,273 -
Due from banks 148,926 148,926 - 309,098 309,098 -
Investment securities 687,462 687,462 - 580,259 580,259 -
Loans and advances to 
customers 2,418,836 2,435,922 17,086 2,541,756 2,631,642 89,886

Financial liabilities
Customer deposits 2,767,359 2,882,231 (114,872) 2,985,964 3,045,876 (59,912)

Total unrecognized change  
in unrealized fair value (97,786) 29,974
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27. Fiduciary Activities

The Bank provides custody and trustee discretionary investment management services to third parties.  Those assets 
that are held in a fiduciary capacity are not included in these financial statements.  At the reporting date, the Bank had 
investment assets under administration on behalf of third parties amounting to $152,310 (2009: $117,281).  

Principal Subsidiary Undertakings

Name Country of incorporation

FirstCaribbean International Finance Company
   (Bahamas) Limited Bahamas
FirstCaribbean International (Bahamas) Nominees
   Company Limited Bahamas
FirstCaribbean International Land Holdings (TCI) Limited Turks & Caicos Islands

All subsidiaries are wholly owned.
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Notice of Meeting

Annual Meeting   
Notice is hereby given that the Sixteenth Annual General 
Meeting of FirstCaribbean International Bank (Bahamas) 
Limited will be held at 6:00 p.m. on Thursday, March 
31, 2011 at the British Colonial Hilton, Governor’s Room, 
Number One Bay Street, Nassau, The Bahamas for the 
following purposes:

1. To receive and consider the minutes of the last 
Annual General Meeting held on March 30, 2010.

2. To receive and consider the Chairman’s review.

3. To receive accounts for the year ended October 31, 
2010 and the report of the Directors and Auditors 
thereon.

4. To elect the following Directors:

i. Sharon Brown
ii. Terence R. Hilts
iii. Joseph W. P. Krukowski
iv. Michael Mansoor
v. Willie Moss
vi. G. Diane Stewart
vii. Marie Rodland-Allen

5. To appoint Auditors of the Company and authorize 
the Directors to fix their remuneration.

6. Ratification of dividends for fiscal 2010.

7. To discuss any other business which may properly 
come before the Annual General Meeting.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Teresa S. Williams
Corporate Secretary
FirstCaribbean International Bank (Bahamas) Limited
March 4, 2011

 

Record Date
Holders of FirstCaribbean International Bank (Bahamas) 
Limited ordinary shares of record at the close of business 
on March 4, 2011 are entitled to vote at the meeting.

Financial Statements
The Company’s audited financial statements for the 
year ended October 31, 2010 are included in the 
Company’s 2010 Annual Report, which is enclosed as 
a part of the proxy soliciting material.

Proxies
Shareholders of the Company entitled to attend and 
vote at the Meeting are entitled to appoint one or more 
proxies to attend and, in a poll, vote instead of them.  
A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.  Any 
instrument appointing a proxy must be received at the 
offices of CIBC Trust (Bahamas) Limited, Registrar and 
Transfer Agents, Goodman’s Bay Corporate Centre, West 
Bay Street, Nassau, The Bahamas not less than 48 hours 
before the Meeting. Shareholders who return completed 
proxy forms are not precluded, if subsequently they so 
wish, from attending the Meeting instead of their proxies 
and voting in person. In the event of a poll, their proxy 
votes lodged with the Registrar and Transfer Agent will 
be excluded.

Dividend
An interim dividend of fifteen cents ($0.15) per common 
share was paid on July 13, 2010.  A final dividend of fifteen 
cents ($0.15) per common share for the fiscal year 2010 
was approved by the Directors on December 14, 2010 
and paid to shareholders on January 28, 2011.  Total 
dividends paid for fiscal 2010 were thirty cents ($0.30) per 
common share.

REGISTERED OFFICE: FirstCaribbean International Bank 
(Bahamas) Limited, FirstCaribbean Financial Centre, 2nd 
Floor, Shirley Street, Nassau, The Bahamas.
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Directors’ Report 

Directors
In accordance with the Memorandum and Articles of 
Association, the following Directors cease to hold office 
at the end of the Annual General Meeting, and being 
eligible offer themselves for re-election:-

i. Sharon E. Brown
ii. Terence R. Hilts
iii. Joseph W. P. Krukowski
iv. Michael Mansoor
v. Willie Moss
vi. G. Diane Stewart
vii. Marie Rodland-Allen

Directors’ Interest
As at October 31, 2010, particulars of Directors’ 
shareholdings in the issued capital of the Company are 
as follows:

Common Shares of No Par Value

   Beneficial Non-Beneficial
   Interest Interest

1. Terence Hilts 31,220 nil
2. Sharon Brown   422 nil

Financial Results and Dividends
The Directors report that the Company’s net income for 
the year ended October 31, 2010 amounted to $61,863.  
All statutory requirements for the year ended October 
31, 2010 have been fulfilled.

An interim dividend of fifteen cents ($0.15) per common 
share was paid on July 13, 2010. A final dividend of fifteen 
cents ($0.15) per common share for the fiscal year 2010 
was approved by the Directors on December 14, 2010 
and paid to shareholders on January 28, 2011.  Total 
dividends paid for fiscal 2010 were thirty cents ($0.30) per 
common share.

Share Capital
Substantial Interest as at October 31, 2010*
Common Shares of B$0.10 par value

1.  FirstCaribbean International Bank – 114,463,600 
(95.21%)

* Substantial interest means a holding of 5% or more of the company’s issued 
share capital.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Teresa S. Williams
Corporate Secretary
March 4, 2011
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Information Circular

Shareholders are advised that no shareholder proposal 
has been filed and no action is proposed by the Board 
of Directors which would create the possibility of a 
“dissenting shareholder” under Section 168 of The 
Companies Act, 1992.  The Board of Directors is also not 
aware of any solicitation of proxies by a person or group 
adverse to present management of this Company.

You are cordially invited to attend the annual meeting 
on March 31, 2011, beginning at 6:00 p.m. E.S.T.  
Shareholders will be admitted beginning at 5:30 p.m. 
E.S.T. The meeting will be held at the British Colonial 
Hilton, Governor’s Room, Number One Bay Street, 
Nassau, The Bahamas.

This financial year of FirstCaribbean International 
Bank (Bahamas) Limited began on November 1, 2009 
and ended October 31, 2010.  References in this proxy 
statement to the year 2010 or financial 2010 refer to the 
period as mentioned above.

We are mailing this proxy statement and accompanying 
forms of proxy and voting instructions to holders of the 
Company’s ordinary shares on March 4, 2011, the record 
date for the meeting.

Proxies and Voting Procedures
The Board of Directors and the Management of the 
Company do not contemplate the solicitation of proxies 
otherwise than by mail.

A shareholder has the right to appoint a person or 
company (who need not be a shareholder), other than 
the persons designated by the Directors as proxy holders 
in the accompanying form of proxy, to represent the 
shareholder at the meeting by striking out the names 
of the persons so designated and inserting the name of 
the chosen proxy holder in the blank space provided for 
that purpose in the form of proxy, or by completing and 
signing another proper form of proxy.  A proxy must be 
in writing and must be executed by the shareholder or 
by an attorney authorized in writing and deposited at 
the offices of CIBC Trust (Bahamas) Limited, Goodman’s 
Bay Corporate Centre, West Bay Street, Nassau, The 
Bahamas. A shareholder who executes and returns 

the accompanying form of proxy may revoke it by an 
instrument in writing executed by such shareholder 
or attorney authorized in writing and deposited at the 
offices of CIBC Trust (Bahamas) Limited, Registrar and 
Transfer Agents at Goodman’s Bay Corporate Centre, 
West Bay Street, Nassau, The Bahamas at any time up to 
and including the last business day preceding the day of 
the meeting, or with the Chairman of the meeting on the 
day of the meeting prior to the commencement thereof, 
or in any other manner permitted by law.

All shares entitled to vote and represented by properly 
completed proxies received prior to the meeting and not 
revoked will be voted at the meeting in accordance with 
your instructions.  If you do not indicate how your shares 
should be voted on a matter, the shares represented by 
your properly completed proxy will be voted as the Board 
of Directors recommends.

If any other matters are properly presented at the 
annual meeting for consideration, including, among 
other things, consideration of a motion to adjourn the 
meeting to another time or place, the persons named as 
proxies and acting thereunder will have discretion to vote 
on those matters according to their best judgment to the 
same extent as the person delivering the proxy would be 
entitled to vote.  At the date this proxy statement went to 
press, we did not anticipate that any other matters would 
be raised at the meeting.

Shareholders Entitled to Vote
Shareholders at the close of business on the record date 
are entitled to notice of and to vote at the annual meeting.

On March 4, 2011 there were 120,216,204 ordinary 
shares of par value $0.10  each outstanding.  Each share 
is entitled to one vote on each matter properly brought 
before the meeting.

At close of business on March 4, 2011 FirstCaribbean 
International Bank Limited beneficially owned or 
controlled directly or indirectly 114,463,600 shares 
which represents 95.21% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary shares.

We are providing these proxy materials in connection with the solicitation by the Board of Directors 
of FirstCaribbean International Bank (Bahamas) Limited, of proxies to be voted at the Company’s 2010 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders and at any meeting following adjournment thereof.
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Quorum and Required Vote
The presence, in person or by proxy, of the holders of a 
majority of the shares entitled to vote generally for the 
election of Directors is necessary to constitute a quorum 
at the meeting. For purposes of determining a quorum, 
abstentions are counted as present and are entitled 
to vote.  Pursuant to the Articles of Association, three 
persons, each being a member entitled to attend and 
vote at the meeting, or a proxy for such a member, or the 
duly authorized representative of a corporate member so 
entitled, shall be a quorum.

Election of Directors
The articles of the Company currently provide that 
the Board of Directors of the Company shall consist of 
a minimum of five (5) and a maximum of twelve (12) 
directors, with the actual number of directors to be 
determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.

Directors can be either elected annually by the 
shareholders at the annual meeting of shareholders or, 
subject to the articles of the Company and applicable 
law, appointed by the Board of Directors between 
annual meetings.  Each director shall hold office until 
the close of the next annual meeting of shareholders or 

until he or she ceases to be a director by operation of 
law or articles of Association of the Company or until 
his or her resignation becomes effective.  By resolution 
of the Board of Directors, the number of directors has 
been fixed at eight (8) effective upon the election of 
directors at the Meeting.  

The Board of Directors held nine (9) meetings in 2010.
The persons designated as proxy holders in the 

accompanying form of proxy will vote ordinary shares 
represented by such form of proxy, properly executed, 
for the election of the nominees whose names are set 
forth herein, unless specifically directed to withhold 
a vote. All the nominees were previously elected by 
the shareholders of the Company as directors of the 
Company.

If any nominee is for any reason unavailable to serve 
(which management has no reason to believe to be the 
case), the persons designated as proxy holders in the 
accompanying form of proxy shall have the right to exercise 
their discretion by voting for another qualified nominee.

The following table sets out the names of all persons 
proposed to be nominated for election as Directors, 
along with other relevant information.  All nominees are 
now members of the Board of Directors.

Name and Position Principal Occupation Director 
Since

Number of Shares Beneficially Owned 
or Controlled Directly or Indirectly

Michael Mansoor Executive Chairman,  
FirstCaribbean International Bank

1999 Nil

Sharon Brown Deputy Chairman, Retired Banker 2002 422

Marie Rodland-Allen Managing Director 2010 Nil

J. W. P. Krukowski Chairman,  
Doctor’s Hospital Health System Ltd

1997 Nil

Terence Hilts Retired Banker 1997 31,220

Willie Moss Attorney-at-law 1998 Nil

G. Diane Stewart Attorney-at-law 2002 Nil

INFORMATION CIRCULAR
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Compensation of Directors
Each director, who is not an employee of FirstCaribbean 
International Bank (Bahamas) Limited is paid a fee of 
$2,500 per meeting for his or her services as a director 
and the Deputy Chairman is paid a fee of $3,125 per 
meeting. Directors are also entitled to reimbursement 
for reasonable travel and living expenses incurred by 
them in attending any Board of Directors or committee 
meetings.

No special remuneration was paid to any director 
during financial year 2010.

Senior Management Compensation
The senior management of the Company received 
aggregate compensation amounting to B$2,309,392 in 
the financial year 2010.

Indebtedness of Management
There is a total indebtedness of approximately 
B$2,873,692 due to the Company from members of the 
senior management and directors.  This represents loans 
and mortgages.

Management’s Interest in Transactions
No director, executive officer, or senior officer of the 
Company, or proposed nominee for election as a director 
of the Company, has held or currently holds a material 
interest in any transaction entered into by the Company 
or its subsidiaries.

Share Option Plan
There is no share option plan.

Shareholder Feedback and Communication
The Company’s communications policy is reviewed by 
the Board of Directors of the Company periodically and 
provides that communications with all constituents will 
be made in a timely, accurate and effective manner.  The 
Company communicates regularly with its shareholders 
through press releases, and annual and quarterly 
reports. At the Company’s shareholders’ meetings, a full 
opportunity is afforded to permit shareholders to ask 
questions concerning the Company’s activities.  Investor 
and shareholder concerns are addressed on an on-going 
basis through the office of the Corporate Secretary.  

Appointment of Auditors
At the meeting, the shareholders will be called upon to 
appoint auditors of the Company at a remuneration to 
be fixed by the Board of Directors and to serve until the 
close of the next annual meeting of the Company.  To 
be effective, the resolution appointing auditors of the 
Company must be approved by the majority of the votes 
cast by the holders of Ordinary Shares present in person, 
or represented by proxy, at the Meeting.  

Arrangements will be made for one or more 
representatives of the proposed auditors to attend 
the meeting.

Other Business
The management of the Company knows of no matters 
to come before the meeting other than the matters 
referred to in the Notice of Annual Meeting.  However, 
if any other matters which are not known to the 
management of the Company should properly come 
before the Meeting, forms of proxy given pursuant to 
this solicitation by the management of the Company will 
be voted on such matters in accordance with the best 
judgment of the person voting the proxy.

Directors’ Approval and Certificate
The contents and the sending of this Information Circular 
and Proxy Form have been approved by the Board of 
Directors of the Company.  The foregoing contains no 
untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to 
state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is 
necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of 
the circumstances in which it was made.  

Dated at the City of Nassau, New Providence Island in  
the Commonwealth of The Bahamas this March 4, 2011.

Michael K. Mansoor    
Executive Chairman     
 

Teresa S. Williams
Corporate Secretary

INFORMATION CIRCULAR
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Proxy Form

The undersigned ___________________________ (please print) of_________________________ (please print) being a 
shareholder of FirstCaribbean International Bank (Bahamas) Limited (“the Company”) hereby appoints Michael K. 
Mansoor, or failing him, Sharon E. Brown, or instead or either of them, _____________________ or ____________________
as proxy of the undersigned to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (“the meeting”) of the 
Company to be held on March 31, 2011 and at any adjournment thereof, notice of the meeting, together with the 
accompanying financial statements and the Information Circular having been received by the undersigned, and on 
behalf of the undersigned to vote as specifically directed below.

1. Specified in the accompanying Information Circular:

Michael Mansoor – Chairman vOTE FOR ___ WITHHOLD FROM vOTING ___
Sharon Brown – Deputy Chairman vOTE FOR ___ WITHHOLD FROM vOTING ___
Terence Hilts vOTE FOR ___ WITHHOLD FROM vOTING ___
Willie Moss vOTE FOR ___ WITHHOLD FROM vOTING ___
G. Diane Stewart vOTE FOR ___ WITHHOLD FROM vOTING ___
J.W.P. Krukowski vOTE FOR ___ WITHHOLD FROM vOTING ___
Marie Rodland-Allen vOTE FOR ___ WITHHOLD FROM vOTING ___

2. To vote for or withhold from voting on the appointment of Auditors of the Company and to authorize the 
Directors to fix their remuneration:

  vOTE FOR ___ WITHHOLD FROM vOTING ___

3. To vote in their discretion upon any other business which may properly come before the meeting or any 
adjournment thereof.

The undersigned revokes any prior proxies to vote the shares covered by this proxy.

This proxy is solicited on behalf of the Management of the Company and will be voted as directed in the spaces 
provided above or, if no direction is given it will be voted in the affirmative for each of the above proposals.

Dated this                                          day of                                                                                                A.D., 2011

Corporate Seal

Notes:

The persons named in this proxy are Officers of the Company.  Each shareholder submitting the proxy shall have the 
right to appoint a person or company to represent him/her at the meeting other than the persons designated above.  
To exercise this right, the shareholder may insert the name of the desired representative in the blank space provided 
and strike out the other names or may submit another appropriate proxy.

In order for this form of proxy or other appropriate forms of proxy to be valid, it must be signed and should 
be dated by the shareholder or the shareholder’s attorney. The signature should be exactly the same as the name 
in which the shares are registered. The proxy must be sent by mail or hand delivered to the offices of CIBC Trust 
(Bahamas) Limited, Registrar and Transfer Agents, Goodman’s Bay Corporate Centre, West Bay Street, no later than 
48 hours before the time for holding the meeting.  If this form of proxy is received undated but otherwise properly 
executed, it will for all purposes be deemed to be dated March 29, 2011.
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Ownership Structure 
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Main Branches and Centers

ABACO ISLAND

Hope Town
P O Box AB-20402
Hope Town
Tel: (242) 366-0296
Fax: (242) 367-2156

Man-O-War Cay
P.O. Box AB-20402
Tel: (242) 365-6420
Fax: (242) 367-2156

Marsh Harbour
P.O. Box AB-20402
Marsh Harbour
Tel: (242) 367-2166
Fax: (242) 367-2156

New Plymouth
P.O. Box AB-20401
New Plymouth
Green Turtle Cay
Tel: (242) 365-4144
Fax: (242) 367-2156

ELEUTHERA ISLAND

Governor’s Harbour
P.O. Box EL-25022
Governor’s Harbour
Tel: (242) 332-2300
Fax: (242) 332-2318

GRAND BAHAMA ISLAND

East Mall, Freeport
P.O. Box F-42556
The First Commercial Center
East Mall Drive
Tel: (242) 352-6651
Fax: (242) 352-6655

Pioneer’s Way, Freeport
P.O. Box F-42404
Pioneer’s Way
Tel: (242) 352-8391
Fax: (242) 367-9712

NEW PROVIDENCE ISLAND

Bay Street
P.O. Box N-8350
Bay Street
Nassau
Tel: (242) 322-4921
Fax: (242) 328-7979

Harbour Bay
P.O. Box N-8350
East Bay Street
Nassau
Tel: (242) 393-2334
Fax: (242) 393-2560

Paradise Island
P.O. Box SS-6254
Paradise Village Shopping 
Center
Paradise Island
Nassau
Tel: (242) 363-3588
Fax: (242) 363-2146

Marathon Mall
P.O. Box N-8329
Marathon Mall
Tel: (242) 393-4386
Fax: (242) 394-0239

Palmdale
P.O. Box N-8350
Madeira Street
Nassau 
Tel: (242) 322-1231
Fax: (242) 322-1121

RND Plaza West
P.O. Box N-8329
RND Plaza
John F Kennedy Drive
Nassau
Tel: (242) 323-2422
Fax: (242) 322-7851

Sandy Port
P.O. Box N-7125
Old Towne Mall
Nassau
Tel: (242) 327-8361
Fax: (242) 327-8324

Shirley Street
P.O. Box N-7125
Shirley Street
Tel: (242) 322-8455
Fax: (242) 326-6552

Thompson Boulevard
P.O. Box N-8350
Thompson Boulevard
Tel: (242) 323-6062
Fax: (242) 328-1717

Corporate Banking Center
P.O. Box N-7125
Shirley Street
Nassau
Tel: (242) 356-1764
Fax: (242) 328-1690

Wealth Management Center
P.O. Box N-8350
Shirley Street
Nassau
Tel: (242) 302-6000
Fax: (242) 302-6091

Card Services Center
P.O. Box N-8329
Independence Drive
Nassau
Tel: (242) 394-8472
Fax: (242) 394-3655

Customer Service Center
Super Support Center
Solomon’s Building
East West Highway
Nassau
Tel: (242) 394-9878/70
Fax: (242) 394-8238

Investment Banking
P.O. Box N-7125
Shirley Street
Nassau
Tel: (242) 322-8455
Fax: (242) 328-1690

FirstCaribbean International 
Finance Corp. (Bahamas) Limited
Shirley & Charlotte Streets
P.O. Box N-8350
Nassau
Tel: (242) 322-7466
Fax: (242) 323-4450

Managing Director’s Office
P.O. Box N-3221
Shirley Street
Nassau
Tel: (242) 325-7384
Fax: (242) 323-1087

International Corporate Banking
Shirley Street, 3rd Floor
P.O. Box N-8350
Nassau
Tel: (242) 302-6007
Fax: (242) 302-6091/2

TURKS & CAICOS ISLANDS

Grand Turk
P.O. Box 61
Cockburn Town
Grand Turk
Tel: (649) 946-2831
Fax: (649) 946-2695

Providenciales
P.O. Box 698
Leeward Highway
Providenciales
Tel: (649) 946-5303
Fax: (649) 946-5325

Grace Bay 
P.O. Box 236
Salt Mills Plaza
Grace Bay
Providenciales
Tel: (649) 941-4558
Fax: (649) 941-3430

South Caicos
Lee Street
Cockburn Harbour
Tel: (649) 946-3268





Anguilla

Antigua and Barbuda

The Bahamas

Barbados

Belize

British Virgin Islands

The Cayman Islands

Curaçao 

Dominica

Grenada and Carriacou

Jamaica

St. Kitts and Nevis

St. Lucia

St. Maarten

St. Vincent and the Grenadines

Trinidad and Tobago

Turks and Caicos Islands 

www.firstcaribbeanbank.com
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FirstCaribbean International Bank is a member of the CIBC Group.
The CIBC logo is a trademark of Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, used by FirstCaribbean International Bank under license.


